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OUR MISSION

We have highlighted the mission of “invest for a better life”, integrated
the success of the culture of our management team into current
operations, and adhered to the “customerfirst, all wins, harmony-
oriented, environmental friendly, result driven” philosophy, thus
promoting sustainable corporate development. This proves that we
proactively responded to stakeholders’ concerns and, in particular,
persisted with repaying investors’ trust with increasing returns and looking
for good opportunities. We will expand our business to other sectors that
would have good opportunities. We ensure a steady supply of quality
products and considerate services to our customers, kept our promise to
employees and paid heed to their concerns, created a home-alike working
environment and a broad development platform, and proactively engaged
in social welfare in return for the support and understanding of all walks

of life.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
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Wang Xing Qiao (Chief Executive Officer)
Zhao Shuang

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Su Bo
Tang Shengzhi
Zeng Guanwei

COMPANY SECRETARY
Lam Wai Kei

AUDITOR
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Su Bo (Chairman)
Tang Shengzhi
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2 China Sinostar Group Company Limited Annual Report 2023

BEER
YITES
T&(ER)
IEB (TSR
e

BAFHITES
BN
e

B A

% BED

hERR(BR) GHAMEEMER AR

BEREREE
B (E%)
B

B A

FMEES
EER(ER)
#OR

REZES
& (£R)
i

B A



CORPORATE INFORMATION
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHRES

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
China Sinostar Group Company Limited (the “Company”) and all of its
subsidiaries (together with the Company, the “Group”), | am pleased to
present the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

It has been the Group’s business strategy to diversify its business models
into different business sectors and to strengthen and expand its revenue
streams. The Group is committed to generating sustainable returns to
its Shareholders and enhance the Shareholders’ value. The management
of the Group formulates various business strategies to cope with the
development of the Group. Also, we monitor the markets closely and take
immediate and appropriate actions when needed.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the global economic momentum
had been slowing down, in particular, the property market in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") has been facing an unprecedentedly
difficult and complicated operating environment. The recurring domestic
COVID-19 pandemic cases, shortage and disruption of the supply chain,
credit crises of property developers, and weakened demand for property
purchases have collectively led to the most severe consequences of the
post-pandemic era being encountered. The operations of the Group were
inevitably affected, the construction schedules of certain construction
projects of the Group have been delayed, whereas the properties
development business that contributed to a large extent to the Group’s
revenue in the past years was adversely affected.

While the international situation remains complex and volatile, the
Central Government of the PRC has been making efforts to provide
various financial supportive policies to stimulate the economic growth.
In November 2022, the People’s Bank of China and the China Banking
and Insurance Regulatory Commission collectively published a notice with
guidelines aimed at stabilising loan supply for property developers and
supporting the reasonable demand for individual housing loans in the real
estate market. These guidelines follow the ongoing policy “houses are
built to be inhabited, not for speculation” and are intended to ensure the
steady and healthily growth of real estate financing while implementing a
long-term development mechanism for the real estate sector in the PRC.
Leveraging on the extensive industry background of the management
of the Group, we are confident that the three properties development
projects in the PRC can reinforce our premium positioning in the
properties development market in the northern PRC and meet the needs
and preferences of the customers.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
IRHESE

On the other hand, the Group continued to support the investment in the
renewable energy business. The two hydroelectric power stations in the
PRC generated stable and clean electricity to the end users in the PRC,
contributed also to both the sustainable development of the environment
and the stable income of the Group. The renewable energy business will
continue to be one of the core investments of the Group.

Looking forward, the Group will maintain the same prudent approach
it has pursued on our business over the past years. We will continue to
focus on our core business as well as seize business opportunities when
they emerge so as to generate better results to the Shareholders.

Lastly, | would like to thank my fellow Directors, senior management and
all our employees for their contribution and support during the year ended
31 March 2023. | would also like to thank all our Shareholders, suppliers,
business partners and customers, whose supports have contributed to our
success in the past year.

By the order of the Board
Wang Jing

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERE WD

BUSINESS REVIEW

To align with the Group’s business strategies and directions, the Group
has reallocated its resources and reorganised its asset portfolio to enlarge
its business scale in properties development and related services sectors in
the past years. For the year ended 31 March 2023, most of the Group’s
revenue were derived from properties development and hydroelectric
power business, with a small proportion of revenue derived from
properties investment and properties management business.

As adversely affected by various unexpected factors including but not
limited to the recurrence of the COVID-19 pandemic and global economic
slowdown, the national real estate industry experienced unprecedented
challenges. The buyers were adopting a conservative and wait-and-
see attitude on the property purchases in the PRC. The sales scale of
commodity housing declined significantly and the total investment in
property development recorded a negative growth for the first time as
compared to the previous years. As shown in the information issued by
the National Bureau of Statistics in the PRC, from January to December
2022, the sales area of commodity housing in the PRC was approximately
1,358 million sg.m., representing a decrease of 24% over the previous
year; the sales of commodity housing in the PRC were approximately
RMB13,331 billion, representing a decrease of 27% over the previous
year; and the investment in the real estate development in the PRC
amounted to approximately RMB13,290 billion, representing a decrease
of 10% over the previous year. The property market remained under
downward pressure and the housing supply and prices dragged down by
the weakened demands.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the market sentiments stayed
far from recovery and the sluggish market trading remained, with
impacts from the pandemic and macroeconomic downward pressure,
the operations of the Group, especially properties sales and construction
progress, were inevitably affected.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB mED T

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$23,764,000, representing a decrease of approximately
39% as compared to the revenue of approximately HK$38,939,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2022. Administrative expenses increased from
approximately HK$17,729,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022 to
approximately HK$34,588,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023, which
was mainly due to the increased marketing and promotion activities and
anti-epidemic facilities and environmental afforestation work on properties
sales. In addition, the fair value of investment properties was affected by
the overall economy and properties leasing market of the PRC, a loss on
revaluation of investment properties of approximately HK$16,157,000
was recorded for the year ended 31 March 2023, while a loss on
revaluation of investment properties of approximately HK$7,056,000 was
recorded for the year ended 31 March 2022. Further, the Group recorded
finance costs of approximately HK$3,954,000 for the year ended 31
March 2023, representing an increase of approximately 2% as compared
to that of approximately HK$3,880,000 for the year ended 31 March
2022, which was resulted from the borrowings and bonds payable for the

Group’s refinancing and general corporate purpose.

As a result, the Group recorded a loss for the year at the amount of
approximately HK$51,210,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023,
representing an increase of approximately 191% as compared to that of
approximately HK$17,607,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Properties Development

Leveraging the experience and connection of the management and
following the business directions of the Company, the Group started to
engage in properties development business since the financial year of
2018. During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group owned three
properties development projects in the PRC, namely Xiguan Project, Bagua
Town Project | and Bagua Town Project Il. For the year ended 31 March
2023, revenue from properties development were derived from the sale of
remaining completed properties of the Xiguan Project.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEBNWED N

Xiguan Project

It is located at Xiguan Village, Huanren County, Benxi, Liaoning Province,
the PRC, with a floor area of 46,242.6 sq.m. and a construction area
of 80,462 sq.m.. Xiguan Project contained 19 buildings that created
775 residential and 30 commercial units and 121 parking units. The
construction work of the Xiguan Project was completed during the
financial year of 2019.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group sold approximately 3% of
the gross floor area and achieved total contracted sales of approximately
HK$13,392,000, while approximately 7% of the gross floor area was
sold and total of contracted sales of approximately HK$29,373,000 was
recorded for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Bagua Town Project |

It is located at Bagua Town, Huanren County, Benxi, Liaoning Province, the
PRC, with a floor area of approximately 5,023 sq.m. and a construction
area of approximately 7,543 sqg.m. for other commercial use. Although
the preparation work for construction of properties on this parcel of land
has been commenced since the financial year of 2020, the construction
schedule has been delayed due to the outbreak and spread of COVID-19
pandemic during the past few years. The construction work of Bagua
Town Project | has been substantially completed as at 31 March 2023.
Bagua Town Project | comprises 3 main buildings and 38 commercial units
that creates a marketplace for the community. It is expected that the sale
of Bagua Town Project | will commence in mid-2023.

Bagua Town Project Il

It is located at Bagua Town, Huanren County, Benxi, Liaoning Province,
the PRC, with a floor area of approximately 9,188.2 sq.m. and a
construction area of approximately 14,700 sq.m. for other commercial
use. The Bagua Town Project Il is at the preliminary stage of preparation
ahead of construction.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB mED T

The Bagua Town Project | and the Bagua Town Project Il are important
parts of the only restoration and reconstruction project of the Taiji
Bagua Town in the PRC, with strong ethnic characteristics and historical
significance, located in the Central Community of Huanren Manchu
Autonomous County, Liaoning Province, the PRC. The two projects are
a combination of work, life, education and tourism, located near the
government square of Huanren Manchu Autonomous County, Liaoning
Province, the PRC. The two projects are planned to include pedestrian
streets, office buildings, retail stores, shopping malls, and tourism,
historical and cultural facilities. The Bagua Town Project | and the Bagua
Town Project Il are expected to generate continuous growth and enhance
future business performance of the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the economy in the PRC faced
downward pressure as a result of the recurring domestic COVID-19
pandemic cases. It weakened the internal demands and hence the
properties development business in the PRC has been in a down-cycle.
The overall property sales in the PRC continued with its decline, while the
construction progress and sales planning on Bagua Town Project | and
Bagua Town Project Il continued to be inevitably delayed.

As a result of the significant decline in property sales, the increased
marketing and promotion activities, anti-epidemic facilities and
environmental afforestation work carried out during the year ended 31
March 2023, segment loss increased from approximately HK$6,189,000
for the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$25,053,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEBNWED N

Confronted with the downward pressure in economy, local governments
persisted in epidemic prevention and control on one hand while ensuring
economic stability on the other. Stability in real estate, economy and
growth still remained the keynote of the macro-policy advocated by the
state. The government of the PRC continued to adhere to the national
strategies that “houses are built to be inhabited, not for speculation”,
implement city-specific policies to achieve the “three stabilities” of
“stabilising land prices”, “stabilising housing prices” and “stabilising
expectations”, as well as the financial support policies launched by the
People’s Bank of China and the China Banking and Insurance Regulatory
Commission, thereby promoting the positive and healthy development
of the real estate industry. Following the national strategies, the Board
is positive towards the properties development industry in the PRC
and will proactively align and respond to the adjustment and calling of
such policies and capture the potential opportunities in the properties
development market in order to enhance shareholder’s value. Further, the
Group will also enhance its portfolio of the existing projects and strive to
generate a better result for the Group.

Properties Investment

Revenue generated from properties investment was mainly derived from
the leasing of several parcels of land and rights-of-use assets located in
Benxi City, Liaoning Province, the PRC for commercial use.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, revenue was approximately
HK$1,226,000, representing a decrease of 6% as compared to
approximately HK$1,298,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022. The fair
value of investment properties was affected by the overall economy and
properties leasing market of the PRC, a loss on revaluation of investment
properties of approximately HK$16,157,000 was recorded for the
year ended 31 March 2023, while a loss on revaluation of investment
properties of approximately HK$7,056,000 was recorded for the year
ended 31 March 2022. In addition, the operating costs for properties
investment business increased due to the anti-epidemic facilities and
maintenance work on certain investment properties during the year ended
31 March 2023, thus, segment loss of approximately HK$18,369,000 and
approximately HK$6,602,000 for each of the year ended 31 March 2023
and 31 March 2022, respectively, were recorded.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB mED T

Properties Management

To complement the properties development business, the Group started to
engage in properties management business and delivered comprehensive
property management services for residential and commercial properties
of the Xiguan Project since the financial year of 2020. The Group is
committed to delivering the highest service standard and providing
user-oriented services to its customers. Following the completion of
construction work of the Bagua Town Project | and the Bagua Town
Project Il, it is expected that the Group will put more resources to build
up a professional properties management team by providing integrated
training in properties management sectors to its front line and back-office
staff, acquiring and improving its properties management system and
services to meet the increasing demand.

The revenue and segment profit for the year ended 31 March 2023 were
approximately HK$569,000 and approximately HK$34,000, respectively,
whereas the revenue and segment loss for the year ended 31 March
2022 were approximately HK$564,000 and approximately HK$139,000,
respectively.

Hydroelectric Power Business

The Group started to engage in the business of clean and renewable
energy since the financial year of 2016. Revenue was generated from the
operation and management of two hydroelectric power stations located
in the northern PRC which are connected to the national power grid and
mainly for industrial use. The business of clean and renewable energy
contributed to the stable income of the Group during the year.

The revenue for the year ended 31 March 2023 was approximately
HK$8,577,000, representing an increase of 11% as compared to
approximately HK$7,704,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022.
However, segment loss of approximately HK$288,000 was recorded as a
result of the increased maintenance costs incurred for the hydroelectric
power stations during the year ended 31 March 2023, whereas
segment profit for the year ended 31 March 2022 was approximately
HK$3,486,000.

Needless to say, the sustainable development in clean and renewable
energy is the global trend. The Group believes that continued investments
in renewable energy business will benefit the Group in the long run and
generate sustainable revenue to the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEBNWED N

Prospect

Over the past years, the COVID-19 pandemic has created an intricate
environment with challenges in public health, business, politics and
all abounded. Although the head of the United Nations World Health
Organization declared an end to the COVID-19 pandemic as a public
health emergency in 2023, it is anticipated that the post pandemic era
will be full of uncertainties and challenges. The restrictions and various
COVID-19 pandemic measures, particularly in the PRC, are now lifted. The
Group has been reviewing and adjusting its business development and
sales schedule in accordance with the latest market conditions and the

overall business environment.

Looking forward, the Group will adhere to its business orientation and
reinforce its product brand and industry positioning and continue to
upgrade its products and services qualities and capabilities in the northern
PRC. Further, the Group will continue to maintain its prudent investment
and business strategies and will adhere to its strategy to diversify its
business models into different business sectors and to strengthen and
expand its revenue streams and generate better results and prospect for
the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2023, bank balances and cash denominated mainly
in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi amounted to approximately
HK$4,196,000 as compared to approximately HK$12,673,000 as at 31
March 2022.

As at 31 March 2023, gearing ratio was 0.13 (31 March 2022: 0.17),
which was calculated based on the total borrowings and bonds
payable divided by total equity. The Group will continue to monitor and
manage its financial structure and their potential risks in the course of
development.

As at 31 March 2023, the current ratio was 3.17 (31 March 2022: 3.12),

which was calculated by dividing the total current assets by the total
current liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB mED T

Financing and Capital Structure

The Group finances its operations by a combination of equity and
borrowings. As at 31 March 2023, the Group had borrowings of
approximately HK$21,716,000 (31 March 2022: HK$40,181,000)
and bonds payable of approximately HK$8,282,000 (31 March 2022:
HK$11,500,000), which were for the Group’s refinancing and general
corporate purpose. Details regarding the borrowings and bond payable
of the Group are set out in notes 26 and 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Exposure to Fluctuation in Exchange Rates

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s transactions were mostly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. No foreign currency
hedge was made during the year ended 31 March 2023. The Group
did not have significant exposure to foreign exchange fluctuation as the
management monitors the related foreign currencies closely and will
consider hedging for significant foreign currency exposure, if necessary.

Pledge of Assets

Details regarding the pledge of assets are set out in notes 17, 21 and 26
to the consolidated financial statements.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had no material contingent liabilities (31
March 2022: Nil).

Employee

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a total of 21 employees (31 March
2022: 16), of which 18 (31 March 2022: 13) were employed in the PRC.
Details regarding the total amount of staff costs of the Group are set out
in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

The employees’ remuneration, promotion, salary increments and
discretionary bonus are assessed based on both individual’s and the
Group's performance, professional and working experience and by
reference to prevailing market practice and standards. In addition, the
Group also provides employee benefits such as employee insurance,
retirement scheme and training programmes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEBNWED N

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal during the
year ended 31 March 2023.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed “Business Review"”, the Group
did not have any significant investment held for the year ended 31 March
2023.

FUTURE PLANS RELATING TO MATERIAL
INVESTMENT OR CAPITAL ASSET

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed “Business Review”, “Prospect”
and “Material Acquisition and Disposal” in this section, the Group will
actively seek potential opportunities in different industries and business
sectors. However, the Group has not executed any legally binding
agreement in relation to material investment or acquisition of capital
assets and did not have any plans relating to material investment or
capital assets as at the date of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2023, neither the Company nor its
subsidiaries have purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed, the Board is not aware of any important event affecting
the Group which occurred after the end of the reporting period and up to
the date of this annual report.

14  China Sinostar Group Company Limited Annual Report 2023

BERARBRESE
ARBRBE-_F-=F=A=+-ALFELR
EAEARBRLEESR -

iz EARE
BIEBOEIBERRBESN AEEANAE T
CEFZASt-BULEREIESEEAEARE -

BEREAREHELREEZRE

B !

BAEEBERE]  [EE)R[EAKEREE B
BRATBREESN  AEEBHEENTRATERERE
HEREIERE AT NAFREH - AEEYL
AR EARAXMBEREESR T EMEENR
Nz T AEREAAREAEE ) -

REIR B
REBEE-_T-_=F=A=1+—HItFE EERF
EERNARBRE (- —F &) o

BE HEIEE LHES

RBEZZ_=F=A=+T—HIEFE  XQAIX
HBARMERE HEXEREFAAAR 2L

SN

M5 o

BERREE
BAEEEN  EERLTARRBERKERE
EAERANEEAAVEAEEANERFE -



DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

EEREREEERBE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Jing, aged 68, is the executive Director, the chairman of the
Board and the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”). He joined our Group in July 2014. He is the
vice chairman of Liaoning Federation of Industry and Commerce* GE=Z 4
TR ¥BA <), a Liaoning Province Model Worker* (#2574 &4 )18 &))
in 2006, and a member of People’s Congress of Benxi City* (Z4UZ ™ AKX
f£%). He has founded Liaoning Shihua Group (EZ &=L E]) (“Liaoning
Shihua Group”) and he had been appointed as the general manager
of Liaoning Shihua (Group) Property Development Limited* (i % & %
(£E) B ER 3 AR 2 7)) (“Liaoning Shihua”) since April 2007. He
currently acts as the chairman of Liaoning Shihua Group. He has also been
an executive member of the Property Development Industry Association
HEEREMETEHEEBIES) since March
2012. In February 2014, Mr. Wang was awarded as a Liaoning Province
Excellent Builder* (GE B E EBHER
the Liaoning United Front Work Department of the Chinese Communist
Party* (R LB A Z G 8 30). As at the date of this annual report, Mr.
Wang is the beneficial owner of the equity interest in Liaoning Shihua,

of Liaoning Province* (i

) by various organisations including

being the substantial shareholder of the Group. As at the date of this
annual report, Mr. Wang is interested in 108,591,364 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 51.02% of the total issued share
capital of the Company. Details of his interest in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company are set out in the section headed “Directors’
Report”. Save as aforesaid, Mr. Wang did not hold any directorship in
other listed companies in the last three years. Mr. Wang Jing is the father
of Mr. Wang Xing Qiao, the executive Director and chief executive officer
of the Company.

*  For identification purposes only
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

EEREREEERE

Mr. Wang Xing Qiao, aged 35, is the executive Director, and the chief
executive officer of the Company. He joined our Group in July 2014. Mr.
Wang graduated in the University of Toronto with a bachelor’s degree
in commerce with high distinction in 2009. He also obtained a master
of philosophy degree in finance from the Judge Business School of the
University of Cambridge in 2010. He is currently the deputy general
manager of Liaoning Shihua and is also the Shenyang regional general
manager of Liaoning Shihua. Mr. Wang is also a director of 13 subsidiaries
of the Group. As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Wang is interested
in 163,750 shares of the Company, representing approximately 0.08% of
the total issued share capital of the Company. Details of his interest in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ Report”. Save as aforesaid, Mr. Wang did not hold any
directorship in other listed companies in the last three years. He is the son
of Mr. Wang Jing, the executive Director, the chairman of the Board and

the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Zhao Shuang, aged 43, is the executive Director. He joined our
Group in July 2014. He graduated from Changchun University in 2002,
majored in marketing and sales. Mr. Zhao was appointed as the head
of assets management of Liaoning Shihua Group in 2009 and later
the general manager of Liaoning Shihua Group responsible for assets
management in January 2014. Prior to joining Liaoning Shihua Group, Mr.
Zhao was a project manager, an assistant to general manager and a vice
general manager of Dalian Dongzhan Group Co. Ltd* (KERREEE
R 2 &) from 2002 to 2009. Save as aforesaid, Mr. Zhao did not hold any
directorship in other listed companies in the last three years.

*  For identification purposes only
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

EEREREEEREE

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Su Bo, aged 57, was appointed as the independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of the audit committee of the Company (the
“Audit Committee”) and a member of the remuneration committee
of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) on 7 May 2020.
Mr. Su studied Management Engineering* (€ 3£ T #2) and graduated
from Northeastern University (formerly known as Northeast Institute of
Technology* (B 4t T £:%)) in the PRC in July 1988. He also obtained
legal occupational qualification* (% £ B % & #&) in the PRC in 2004.
He was certified as a public accountant* (& ffit & 5+ &f), an internal
M EPEEETEM) and a tax accountant* (L EL 45 ET),
a public valuer* (st & ZFF{HET) in the PRC. He was also qualified as
a constructor* (— A% ERD) in the PRC. Mr. Su has years of experience

auditor* ( as well as

in audit and finance, taxation, asset valuation, law and construction
engineering. He is currently the deputy chief accountant* (&£ &EM)
in Huanren Honghui United Accounting Firm* (181 JE[EB: A &t =
& FT) in the PRC. Save as aforesaid, Mr. Su did not hold any directorship
in other listed companies in the last three years.

Mr. Tang Shengzhi, aged 41, was appointed as the independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee
on 3 February 2020. Mr. Tang studied Computer Application and
(FtE M P mEEE
Institute of Science and Technology (formerly known as Benxi Yejin Higher
Technical College* (A)Z)6 & =FERZ)) in the PRC in July 2004. He
has years of experience in corporate management and governance. Since

Maintenance* ) and graduated from Liaoning

September 2017, Mr. Tang has become the chairman and an executive
director of Huanrenxuli Power Generation Co., Ltd.* (fE{ZF 2 #EHR
‘A &]) which is principally engaged in hydroelectric power business in the
PRC. Save as aforesaid, Mr. Tang did not hold any directorship in other
listed companies in the last three years.

*  For identification purposes only
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

EEREREEERE

Mr. Zeng Guanwei, aged 36, was appointed as the independent non-
executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee on 30 April 2019. Mr.
Zeng received his bachelor’s degree in engineering from University of
Central Lancashire in the United Kingdom in June 2009 and a master of
philosophy from University of Cambridge in the United Kingdom in July
2011. He has over 10 years of experience in engineering and finance.
Mr. Zeng worked at Huawei Technologies (UK) Co., Ltd from July 2010
to December 2012. He then established Beijing Wolfson Technology
Company Limited* (3L FUR KRB BRF A F) in August 2014 and
has been the chief executive officer since then. Mr. Zeng has also been
working at Beijing Hefu Zhongging Investment Company Limited* (Jt
I & AR A 7)), of which he is a shareholder, as a general
manager since June 2016. Save as aforesaid, Mr. Zeng did not hold any

= A=
mne &

directorship in other listed companies in the last three years. As at the
date of this annual report, Mr. Zeng is interested in 275,500 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 0.13% of the total issued share
capital of the Company. Details of his interest in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company are set out in the section headed “Directors’
Report”.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wang Wei Di, aged 33, joined our Group in 2018 and was
appointed as the general manager of properties development and
properties management division. Mr. Wang has over 10 years of
experience in corporate management and properties development
industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wang worked for several
construction and building materials companies in the PRC.

*  For identification purposes only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CEERBE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance practices to safeguard the interest of its Shareholders and
enhance the performance of the Group. The Directors firmly believe that
the maintenance of a good, solid and sensible framework of corporate
governance will ensure the Company to run its business in the best
interests of its Shareholders as a whole.

The Company adopted all the code provisions in Corporate Governance
Code (the “Code Provisions”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) as its own code
on corporate governance practices and guidance. During the year ended
31 March 2023 and up to the date of this annual report, the Company
has complied with the Code Provisions except the following:

Pursuant to Code Provision B.2.2, every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. The Company was incorporated in
Bermuda and enacted by private act, the Starlight International Holdings
Limited Company Act, 1989 of Bermuda (the “1989 Act”). Pursuant to
section 3(e) of the 1989 Act, director holding office as executive chairman
or managing director shall not be subject to retirement by rotation at each
annual general meeting as provided in the bye-laws of the Company (the
"Bye-laws”). As the Company is bounded by the provisions of the 1989
Act, the Bye-laws cannot be amended to fully reflect the requirements of
Code Provision B.2.2.

To comply with Code Provision B.2.2, all the Directors will voluntarily retire
from his directorship at the annual general meetings of the Company at
least once every three years, and the retired Directors, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting.

Pursuant to Code Provision F.2.2, the chairman of the board should attend
the annual general meeting. Mr. Wang Jing, the chairman of the Board,
was unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 7 September 2022 (the “2022 AGM") due to his other engagement.
Mr. Wang Xing Qiao, the executive Director, acted as the chairman of
the 2022 AGM, and attended the 2022 AGM with other members of
the management. At the 2022 AGM, there was sufficient caliber for
answering questions at the 2022 AGM and answered questions at the
2022 AGM competently.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXRERRE

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.6, independent non-executive director and
other non-executive director should attend general meetings to gain and
develop a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders. Mr. Su Bo
and Mr. Zeng Guanwei, the independent non-executive Directors, were
unable to attend the 2022 AGM due to the travel restrictions arising from
the COVID-19 pandemic.

In order to comply with the Code Provisions, the Company will continue
to furnish all the Directors with appropriate information on all general
meetings and take all reasonable measures to arrange the schedule in
such a caution that may enable all the Directors to attend the general
meeting as far as possible.

Save as disclosed above, in the opinion of the Directors, the Company has
complied with all Code Provisions during the year ended 31 March 2023
and, where appropriate, the applicable recommended best practices of
the Code Provisions.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board

The Board is responsible for leading the Group in a responsive and
effective manner. Each Director has to carry out his duties in utmost good
faith above and beyond any prevailing applicable laws and regulations
and act in the best interests of the Shareholders. The duties of the Board
include establishing the strategic direction of the Group, setting objectives
and monitoring the performance of the Group.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of three executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. More than
one-third of the Board members are independent non-executive
Directors which enables the Board to make decisions and judgement
in an independent and professional manner, assist the management in
formulating the Company’s development strategies, achieving corporate
goals and monitoring the Company’s performance.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

Mr. Su Bo and Mr. Tang Shengzhi entered into the letters of appointment
with the Company for a fixed term of three years and renewable
automatically for successive terms of one year each commencing from the
day after the expiry of the then current term of the appointment. Save as
aforesaid, all the Directors have entered into formal service contracts or
letters of appointment with the Company, each for a fixed term of two
years and renewable automatically for successive terms of one year each
commencing from the day after the expiry of the then current term of
the appointment. All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years in accordance to the Bye-laws. Also, pursuant
to the Bye-laws, any Director being appointed to fill a casual vacancy or
as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following annual general meeting and shall be eligible for re-election.

During the year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date of this annual
report, the members of the Board are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Jing (Chairman)

Mr. Wang Xing Qiao (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhao Shuang

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Su Bo

Mr. Tang Shengzhi

Mr. Zeng Guanwei

The Board has established schedule of matters specifically reserved to
the Board for its decision and those reserved for the management. The
Board reviews this schedule on a periodic basis to ensure that it remains
appropriate to the needs of the Company. The brief biographical details
and relationship of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors” and Senior Management's Profile” of this annual report.

Mr. Wang Jing, the chairman of the Board and the Nomination
Committee and the executive Director, is the father of Mr. Wang Xing
Qiao, the chief executive officer of the Company and the executive
Director. Save as disclosed herein, the Board members have no financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationship with each other.
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Role of the Board

The Board decides corporate strategies, approves overall business plans
and evaluates the Group’s financial performance and management.
Specific tasks that the Board delegates to the Group’s management
include the implementation of strategies approved by the Board, the
monitoring of operating budgets, the implementation of internal controls
procedures, and the ensuring of compliance with relevant statutory
requirements and other rules and regulations.

All the Directors have full and timely access to the information of the
Company as well as the advices and services of the company secretary.
The Board, may, upon request, seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses to assist them to
perform their duties. Various policies such as board diversity policy and
nomination policy and channels through formal and informal means are
in place to ensure that independent view and inputs are available to the
Board.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties as set out below:

1. develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on

corporate governance and make recommendations;

2. review and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of Directors and senior management;

3. review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

5. review the Company’s compliance with the Code Provisions and

disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report under Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

To comply with Code Provision C.2.1, the chairman of the Board and
chief executive officer of the Company were separated and held by Mr.
Wang Jing and Mr. Wang Xing Qiao, respectively. The chairman of the
Board is responsible for the Group’s strategic planning and directions and
to provide leadership of the Board while the chief executive officer takes
the lead in the daily operations and business development.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

The three independent non-executive Directors, all of whom are
independent of the management of the Company, are highly experienced
professionals coming from diversified background. They ensure that
the Board maintains high standard of financial and other mandatory
reportings as well as providing adequate checks and balance to safeguard
the interest of the Shareholders and the Company as a whole.

The Board confirms that the Company has received from each of the
independent non-executive Directors a confirmation of independence for
the year ended 31 March 2023 pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Director’s Training and Professional Development

Under Code Provision C.1.4, directors should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills; and to ensure that their contributions to the Board remains
informed and relevant. During the year ended 31 March 2023, all the
Directors confirmed that they had complied with Code Provision C.1.4
by reading materials provided by the company secretary of the Company
and/or attending regular trainings on the topics relating to corporate
governance and latest change and development of regulatory regime
launched by professional parties.
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According to the training records maintained by the Company, the
trainings received by each of the Directors during the year ended 31
March 2023 is summarised as follows:

REAARREFNHEICE EEEAREBE_F
TZFZAZ+T-RLEFERIBINBERAT

Name of Directors EEnE Reading materials Attending trainings
HMEER HE R
Executive Directors BITES
Wang Jing T & v v
Wang Xing Qiao TES v v
Zhao Shuang i:E v v
Independent Non-Executive Directors M FFHITESE
Su Bo BROR v v
Tang Shengzhi BEAEE v v
Zeng Guanwei 8BS 4 v v
Board Meetings and Attendance Records of Directors EZRERRESHERHE

Board meetings are held regularly at approximately quarterly intervals to
review the financial and operating performance of the Group and held on
ad hoc basis as required by the business needs. All the Directors are given
an opportunity to include matters for discussion in the agenda and give
opinion. Regular Board meetings and ad hoc Board meetings are attended
by a majority of the Directors in person or through other electronic means
of communication. In addition, all the Directors are encouraged to attend
the general meetings of the Company. The company secretary of the
Company records all matters considered by the Board, decisions reached
and any concerns raised or dissenting views expressed by the Directors.
Minutes of meetings are kept by the company secretary of the Company.
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During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board held a total of seven
Board meetings and one general meeting:

BE-ZT-=F=-RA=+—HILFE EEERHAHL
TTEXREEREEA—ABRRERAS :
Numbers of Numbers of

Board meetings general meeting

Name of Directors EEnE attend/held attended/held
HE AT HE BT
BEERGERY RERRERE
Executive Directors HITES
Wang Jing & 7/7 0/1
Wang Xing Qiao ES 717 11
Zhao Shuang fizE3 717 0/1
Independent Non-Executive Directors @M EHITES
SuBo #OR 717 0/1
Tang Shengzhi BES 717 11
Zeng Guanwei P 717 0/1

DIRECTOR'’S SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopts the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
(the "Model Code"”), as the code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. The Company has made specific enquiry of all the Directors
that they have complied with the Model Code throughout the year ended
31 March 2023.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To strengthen the functions of the Board and enhance its expertise,
the Company established three Board committees namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee. Each
of the committees performs different functions.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established with defined terms of reference in
alignment with the recommendations set out in “A Guide for Effective
Audit Committees” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Code Provisions. During the year ended 31 March
2023 and up to the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee
comprises three independent non-executive Directors and the composition

was as below:

Mr. Su Bo (Chairman)
Mr. Tang Shengzhi
Mr. Zeng Guanwei

The members of the Audit Committee meet no less than twice a year with
the senior management and the external auditor. The role and function
of the Audit Committee include the review of the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and other financial reporting
matters, the assurance of the completeness, accuracy and fairness of
the financial statements of the Group, monitor the effectiveness of the
internal control and risk management systems throughout the Group and
most importantly, the review of all significant business affairs managed
by the executive Directors in particular on connected transactions. The
Audit Committee also provides advices and recommendations to the
Board and oversees all matters relating to the external auditor, as well as
monitors and safeguards the independence of external auditor. The Audit
Committee reviewed the financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

The members of the Audit Committee met three times during the year

ended 31 March 2023. Work undertook by the Audit Committee during

the reporting year included:

o reviewing of the financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2022 and for the six months ended 30 September 2022;

o reviewing of the auditor’s fees and its re-appointment; and

o reviewing internal control and risk management system.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with defined terms of
reference. During the year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date
of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors and the composition was as below:

Mr. Tang Shengzhi (Chairman)
Mr. Su Bo
Mr. Zeng Guanwei

The primary objective of the Remuneration Committee is to make
recommendations on the remuneration package and structure of
the executive Directors and senior management. The Remuneration
Committee has adopted the recommendation model described in Code
Provision E. In designing the remuneration policy, the Company aims to
attract and retain executives needed to operate the Group successfully
and to motivate executives to pursue appropriate growth strategies whilst
taking into account the performance of the individuals. The remuneration
should reflect the performance, complexity and responsibility of the
individual; and the remuneration package should include salary, bonus
and share options scheme in order to provide incentives to Directors and
senior management and to improve their individual performances.

Details of the emoluments of directors and the five highest paid
individuals are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
The members of the Remuneration Committee met once during the year
ended 31 March 2023. Work undertook by the Remuneration Committee
during the reporting year included:

o reviewing of the remuneration policy (including that of the
executive Directors); and

o assessing performance and reviewing the remuneration package

of the Directors and senior management.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment of Directors regarding the qualification
and competency of the candidates. The Company has established a
nomination policy setting out the selection, nomination and appointment
criteria and factors in relation to nomination and appointment of
Directors. Key criteria and factors to be considered include, but not limited

to:

o character and integrity;

o qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the Board
diversity policy of the Company that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

o time and interest commitment as to discharge duties as a member
of the Board and/or Board committee(s); and

o independence: independent non-executive Director candidates

should meet the “independence” standards required by the
Listing Rules, and the composition of the Board should meet the

requirements of the Listing Rules.

Where there is vacancy at the Board, candidate is proposed and put
forward to the Nomination Committee for consideration. The Nomination
Committee shall evaluate such candidate with reference to the criteria
as set out above to determine whether such candidate is appropriate for
the Company’s directorship. If the candidate is considered appropriate,
the Nomination Committee shall make recommendations for the Board’s
consideration and approval. It also considers the reappointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors so as to ensure that
all nominations and appointments are fair and transparent. It takes
responsibility in assessing the appropriate mix of experience, expertise,
skills and diversity required for the Board and assessing the extent
to which the required skills are represented on the Board. It is also
responsible for reviewing and reporting to the Board in relation to Board
diversity.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company formulated and adopted a Board diversity policy in 2013,
aiming at setting out the approach on diversity of the Board. The Board
recognises the importance of having a diverse Board in enhancing the
effectiveness and corporate governance of the Board. In determining
the composition of the Board, the Company considers the diversity of
the Board from a number of aspects including but not limited to skills,
industry knowledge and experience, education background, age, gender,
ethnicity and length of service. The Nomination Committee monitors
and reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the Board diversity
policy on an annual basis in accordance with Code Provision B.1.3 and
recommends any revisions to the Board when necessary. Currently, all
Board members are male. In order to achieve gender diversity on the
Board level, the Board will appoint one female Board member no later
than 31 December 2024. During the year ended 31 March 2023 and up
to the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee comprises of
one executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors and
the composition was as below:

Mr. Wang Jing (Chairman)
Mr. Tang Shengzhi
Mr. Zeng Guanwei

The members of the Nomination Committee met once during the year
ended 31 March 2023. Work undertook by the Nomination Committee
during the reporting year included:

. reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board;

o making recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

o assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;
o reviewing and make recommendations to the Board on re-election

of retiring Directors; and

o reviewing and make recommendations to the Board on
appointment of Directors.
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Committee Meetings

The attendance record of each committee members during the year
ended 31 March 2023 is shown as below:

EEE8:
BE-—TR-=-F-A=+-ALFESEES
ZHFEREZ2MT

5
i

Audit  Remuneration Nomination

Name of Directors BENE Committee Committee Committee
EREEE FWEEE REEEE

Wang Jing T N/A 38 A N/A 38 A 11
Su Bo B 33 1/1 N/A T8 A
Tang Shengzhi BES 3/3 11 11
Zeng Guanwei D 4 3/3 11 1/1

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year ended 31 March 2023, Mr. Lam Wai Kei was the
company secretary of the Company. Mr. Lam Wai Kei has duly complied
with the relevant professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no material changes to the Memorandum of Association and
Bye-laws for the year ended 31 March 2023. An up-to-date version of
the Company’s Memorandum of Association is available for inspection on
both the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the number of senior management
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

REWE
BE_T_=ZF=-A=+—HLFE MEELXE
RARBZREAME - MERXLECDEEET LT
BAIF 329 RBRAEREIRE

AR TR X AF
HE-T-SF=A=+-BLTE AREREX
ARAAVRABMEARD - AR VABTRAM
BHHR A ] MBS R 2 RIAB I -

SREEEMNE
HE_Z-_ZFZA=Z+—HLFE UTHEH
BN fhEEBARNT

Number of
senior management

BREEEBAR

Nil to HK$500,000
HK$500,001-HK$1,000,000

T Z500,0007% 7T

1

500,001 % 7T & 1,000,000 % 7T -

Total BET

1
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the total fee paid/payable in
respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the Group's external
auditors are set out below:

P Bh BT A <&
HE-T-=F=A=+-BLEE RAEESN
BB R MR M BEEN N 2B
BEERIILT :

Fee paid/payable

Type of service AR A for the year ended 31 March
BE=ZRA=1t—RHLFEEHRN ESER
2023 2022
—E-= —E -
Audit services ZE AR HK$840,000 & T HK$800,000 7 70
Non-audit services R R N/A 38 A N/A i A

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

The Company has taken out liability insurance to indemnify its Directors
and senior management for their liabilities arising from the performance
of their duties. The insurance coverage is reviewed by the Company on
an annual basis. No claim has been made against the Directors and senior
management of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR PREPARING THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management provides explanation and information to the Board to
facilitate an informed assessment of the financial and other information
put before the Board for approval. The Directors acknowledge their
responsibility to prepare the financial statements that give a true and
fair view. Meanwhile, the Directors are responsible for ensuring that
appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently;
and that judgments and estimates made are prudent and reasonable.
In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2023, the accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
have been adopted and the requirements of the Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the applicable laws were complied with. The Board was
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that might cause significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue
as going concern. The Board has prepared the financial statements on a
going concern basis. The reporting responsibilities of external auditor of
the Company are disclosed in “Independent Auditor’s Report”.

INTERNAL CONTROL & RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining a sound and
effective internal control system of the Group. The system includes a
defined management structure with limits of authority, safeguards its
assets against unauthorised use of disposition, ensures the maintenance
of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication, and ensures compliances
with relevant laws and regulations. The system is designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or
loss, and to manage the risks of failure in the Group’s operational systems
and in the achievement of the Group’s objectives.

The Company currently does not have an internal audit function. Given
that the corporate and operation structure of the Group is relatively
simple, the Board, supported by the Audit Committee, is directly
responsible for risk management and internal control systems of the
Group and for reviewing its effectiveness at least once a year. During
the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board has conducted a review on
the effectiveness towards the system of internal controls, including risk
management system and the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
function, and made recommendations to follow up. The Board considered
the internal control and risk management systems effective and adequate.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group established policies and procedures to handle and disclose
inside information in compliance with the requisite inside information
disclosure requirements as specified under the Listing Rules. The policy
and procedure are designed to ensure that any material information which
comes to the knowledge of any one or more officers should be promptly
identified, assessed and escalated, where appropriate, for the attention
of the Board. The Board shall make timely decisions on disclosure, if
necessary and take appropriate measures to preserve confidentiality of
inside information until proper disclosure of inside information is done.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy aims to ensure that the Board maintains an
appropriate procedure on declaring and recommending the dividend
payment of the Company. The Board endeavors to strike a balance
between the Shareholders’ interests and prudent capital management
with a sustainable dividend policy. Payment of dividends shall be
determined at the sole discretion of the Board, except the final dividend
shall be subjected to Shareholders’ approval at general meeting. In
proposing any dividend payout, the Board will take into account, inter
alia, the financial results, cash flow, liquidity and capital requirements,
current and future business operations, conditions, cycle and strategies
of the Group and the interests of the Shareholders as a whole. The
Company’s distribution of dividends shall also be subject to any restrictions
under the 1989 Act, the memorandum of association of the Company
(the “Memorandum of Association”) and Bye-laws as well as all applicable
laws, rules and regulations. The dividend policy will be reviewed from time
to time. The dividend policy allows the Board to declare special dividends
from time to time in addition to the interim and/or annual dividends.
There is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount
for any given period.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATION

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with the
Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is disseminated to the
Shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal channels,
which include interim and annual reports, announcements and circulars
of the Company. The general meetings of the Company are valuable
forum for the Board to communicate directly with the Shareholders.
The Shareholders are encouraged to attend the general meetings of the
Company. The 2022 AGM was held on 7 September 2022.

A notice convening the 2022 AGM was included in the circular dated 4
August 2022 and the annual report of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2022 were despatched to the Shareholders.

The Board attended the 2022 AGM to answer questions from the
Shareholders. The chairman of the meeting of the 2022 AGM explained
detailed procedures for conduction of a poll. All resolutions proposed
at the 2022 AGM were passed separately by the Shareholders by way
of poll. The results of the poll were published on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company after the meetings. The Company
is committed to enhancing communications and relationships with its
investors. Designated senior management maintains an open dialogue
with institutional investors and analysts to keep them abreast of the
Group's development. The Company has maintained a company website
(www.00485.hk) for the purpose of updating the Company’s business
developments and operations, financial information, news and other data
available to the public. The Company reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy and considered
them to be effective.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shareholders are entitled to requisition a special general meeting and put
forward proposals at general meeting. Please refer to the procedures as

follows:

(A) Procedures for requisitioning a special general meeting

Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right to vote at general meetings of the Company
may, by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary
signed and deposited in accordance with the Bye-laws, Bermuda
Companies Act 1981 (the “Companies Act”), require the Directors
to call a special general meeting for the transaction of business
specified in the requisition.

(B) Procedure for putting forward proposals at general
meetings

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-twentieth of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right to vote at general
meetings of the Company or not less than 100 shareholders may,
at their expense, provide a written request to the attention of the
company secretary signed and deposited in accordance with the
Companies Act.

Besides, the Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws are posted on the
website of the Company at www.00485.hk and the designated website
of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk.
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CONTACT DETAILS

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests by post or email to the

Company:

Address: Unit 303, 3/F., New East Ocean Centre, No. 9 Science
Museum Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
(with the Board of Directors as designated recipient)

Tel: +852 2286 0728

Fax: +852 2286 0727

Email: office@00485.hk

Shareholders must deposit or send (as the case may be) the original of
the duly signed written requisitions, notices or statements or enquires
to the above address, and provide their full names, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information
may be disclosed as required by law.

CONCLUSION

The Company strongly believes that the quality and standard of corporate
governance reflects the quality of the management and the operations
of the Group’s business. Good corporate governance can safeguard the
proper use of funds and effective allocation of resources and protect
Shareholders’ interests. The management wholeheartedly to advocate
of the good practice in corporate governance and will try our best to
maintain, strengthen and improve the standard and quality of the Group’s
corporate governance.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R - HEREREE

The Group is pleased to present its Environmental, Social and Governance
Report (the “ESG Report”) for the year ended 31 March 2023. The ESG
Report summarises the policies and achievement made by the Group in
corporate social responsibility and sustainability development.

We believe that sustainability is crucial and important for the Group’s
development and to achieve business excellence and enhance capabilities
for long-term competitiveness. The Group will continue to strive a
balance among business development, environmental protection and
social responsibility and to create sustainable value for the Group and
stakeholders.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group did not observe any
material non-compliance on the applicable environmental and social laws
and regulations that has a significant impact on the Group.

REPORTING SCOPE

This ESG Report covers the Group’s businesses in properties development,
properties investment, properties management and hydroelectric power
during the year ended 31 March 2023. For corporate governance of
the Group, please refer to the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” of this annual report.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

This ESG report is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” of the Stock Exchange set out
in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules. This ESG Report provides a simplified
overview on the environmental, social and governance performance of

the Group.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The information in the ESG Report is derived from the integration and
summary conducted by the management, employees and external
stakeholders in which the ESG report is to assess and review the impacts
towards the environment and society arising from the operations of the
Group as well as how these operating practices are material to the Group’s
business operations and stakeholders. The communication channels for
review includes but not limited to employee trainings, corporate website
and customers’ feedback. The information collected for the ESG report is
not only a summary of the environmental and social initiatives carried out
by the Group, but also the basis for formulation, review and update of the
sustainable development strategies and directions of the Group.

STAKEHOLDERS' ENGAGEMENT

We believe that good communication with the investors, Shareholders,
employees and other stakeholders is the foundation for the Group to
formulate its policies for sustainable development. We attach great
importance to the opinions of the stakeholders and drive attentions and

perform regular reviews on those areas.

STAKEHOLDERS' FEEDBACK

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on our environmental, social
and governance approach and performance. Please give your suggestions
or share your views with us via email: office@00485.hk.
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ENVIRONMENT

Sustainable development has been adopted as an objective of the
Group. The Group introduced a series of environmental protection
policies aiming to reduce the energy consumption in daily
operations and enhance the efficiency on the use of resources and
created an environmentally friendly workplace for our employees.
We strictly comply with applicable local environmental related
laws and regulations, such as the Air Pollution Control Ordinance,
Waste Disposal Ordinance and the Public Health and Municipal
Services Ordinance in Hong Kong and the Environmental
Protection Law of People’s Republic of China ({1 # A R H£HE
IRIEIRF%X)) and the Electric Power Law of People’s Republic of
China (P ZE AR £ FIBIE /77%)) in the PRC. Throughout the
year ended 31 March 2023 the Group’s business did not have
significant negative impacts on the environment and natural

resources.

Emission

Based on the review during the reporting period, the Group’s
business did not generate significant air, greenhouse gas emissions
or other air pollutants, while some greenhouse gas emission have
indirectly generated from the consumption of electricity at the
workplaces in Hong Kong and the PRC. The electricity consumed
by the Group at its offices was approximately 64,800kWh
(2022: 68,500kWh), producing CO,e emissions of approximately
46,000kg (2022: 48,700kg) during the year ended 31 March
2023.

In order to minimise air and greenhouse gas emissions which are
derived from the daily operations at offices of the Group and
striving to mitigate the damages and risks to the environment,
the Group promoted energy conservation as part of its holistic
approach towards energy saving, such as encouraging its
employees to switch off idle lights and other electronic appliances,
and reduce the consumption of resources. During the reporting
period, most of the meetings were attended via telephone
conferencing or video conferencing and in order to reduce
overseas travels and in response to the lockdown and relevant
quarantine requirements announced by different regions.
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In addition, the Group did not purchase any vehicle for business
use during the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil). To reduce
the exhaust gas emission and maintain the efficiency of the
vehicle, the Group conducted regular repair and maintenance
on its vehicle and ensure no idling engines. Apart from this, all
employees were encouraged to use public transportation for

business travels.

The discharge into water and land, generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste during the course of operations was
minimal. Non-hazardous waste produced was mainly from
office paper and other garbage from daily operations while the
hazardous waste was mainly derived from used toner cartridge.
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group used a total
of approximately 22,000 pieces of papers in its daily operations
(2022: 32,000 pieces). The Group introduced various internal
guidelines to handle the wasted generated from daily operations
of the Group. Those non-hazardous waste and hazardous waste
were collected by the property management company of the
landlord and collected by suppliers respectively, all were handled
in an environmentally acceptable manner. In addition, the Group
collected single-side papers, envelops and file folders for reuse and
encouraged its employees to go paperless as much as possible.

Use of Resources

The resources consumption of the Group related mainly to the
use of water, electricity and paper from the daily operations of
the Group in the workplaces in Hong Kong and the PRC. In order
to make full use of resources, the Group took various measures
to demonstrate our efforts in efficient use of resources in daily
operations. Further, the Group believes that the participation of its
employees is also important for the Group in the implementation
of related policies. Hence, the Group strives to create a corporate
culture of resources saving and to enhance employees’ awareness

of environmental protection and energy saving.
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To reduce paper consumption, the Group encouraged its
employees to reduce the usage of photocopies, print double-
sided for internal documents and external documents, where
appropriate, use electronic copies. Recycle boxes and bins were
placed at offices to collect non-reusable paper and waste. The
Group also encouraged its employees to segregate non-recyclable
and recyclable waste and reuse and recycle the office supplies,
such as binders, file folders and papers. Furthermore, in order
to reduce waste and to recycle resources, suppliers are regularly
arranged to collect used printing cartridges and toners for
recycling purpose.

To reduce electricity consumption, the air-conditioners installed at
offices were maintained at room temperature between 24 degrees
to 26 degrees which could reduce the usage of excess electricity.
The Group also kept reminding the employees to switch off the
lights and air-conditioners when not in use and procured to use
the energy efficient appliances (with Grade 1 energy labels) in
the workplaces to lower the electricity consumption. Both the
workplaces in Hong Kong and the PRC used light-emitting diodes
(LEDs) lighting system, which is a more environmentally friendly
lighting system as compared to the fluorescent lamps. Further,
the lighting systems in the workplaces in the PRC were set up
with sensors to detect indoor activities within a certain area. It
can achieve energy saving by turning lights off or reducing light
output when that area is unoccupied. Calculators were also
installed to monitor the usage of electricity consumption and will

make adjustment when necessary.

Measures have also been taken to improve power efficiency and
reduce energy consumption at construction sites, which include
selecting and using energy-efficient equipment and technologies,
well-organised and well-designed the installation of temporary
power and cables, and maintaining and repairing electrical
equipment as needed. By taken these measures, it lowers the
energy costs and supports a more sustainable operation in the

construction sites.
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In addition, the Group encouraged the use of the most efficient
travelling method and set up telephone conferencing and video
conferencing facilities at offices to minimise unnecessary business
travels which may subsequently reduce greenhouse gas emissions

from air travels.

In respect of water consumption, it was mainly retrieved from the
daily business activities in the workplaces and irrigation systems
installed in the residential and commercial properties of Xiguan
Project. The consumption of water and impact generated from
daily business activities was minimal as non-significant amount
of water was wasted during the reporting period. The cost of
water consumption of the Group was inclusive in the monthly
rent and the building management did not individually measure
water consumptions of each tenant hence no relevant data could
be collected. Water efficient irrigation systems were installed to
reduce water consumption for irrigation in the residential and
commercial properties of Xiguan Project. Professional technical
team conducts routine maintenance checks to inspect, adjust and
repair the systems to ensure they perform at maximum efficiency

and conserve water.

We are committed to minimising the consumption of packaging
materials and to use environmentally friendly materials as much
as possible. Furthermore, in selecting suppliers or cooperation
partners, the Group takes into consideration, among others, their
environmental and energy policies, to maximise environmental

protection and minimise pollution.

Starting from the financial year of 2020, the Group engaged in
the properties management business for providing comprehensive
properties management services to residential and commercial
properties of Xiguan Project. Being part of the community,
the Group strives for creating a culture of sustainability and
environmental-friendly to our residents and customers through
architectural planning, green planting and other energy saving
initiatives. Trees and ornamental plants were planted on both
streets and podium levels of the properties. Residents and
customers were encouraged to join the recycling programmes
organised by the property management office.
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The Environmental and Natural Resources

The core businesses of the Group are confined to the office
workplaces, the impact towards to the environment and natural
resources arising from the Group’s business is not significant.
Apart from the internal efforts made by the employees in regards
to energy saving and environmental protection, the Group
also encouraged its business partners to make good use of the

resources and make necessary protections to the environment.

The Group started to engage in properties development business
since the financial year of 2018. During the year ended 31 March
2023, our business units worked closely with the contractors
and communicated clearly with them about our concerns and
requirements in respect of environment protection through
written specifications, legal requirement and regular on-site
checking.

Our business units and contractors also adopted various
approaches to manage the environment impacts of the
development projects. Environment considerations are integrated
in the planning, design, development and execution of our
projects. In addition, to handle the construction wastage properly,
guidelines for waste management were established and be
reviewed from time to time by site supervisors. Waste pools
and movable waste hoppers were placed and specific areas for
disposal different types of wastes were set up in the construction
sites.

Our construction team further seeks for professional advices and
proposals from experts to eliminate the detrimental effect towards
the soil and ecosystem when necessary. In addition, we noticed
that noise and vibration are inevitably generated through the
use of machines when carrying out construction work, but we
strive to minimise disturbances to nearby residents and establish a

communication channel to address their concerns.
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In addition, the Group has been supporting the development in
clean and renewable energy. The Group engaged in the business
of the renewable energy and operated two hydroelectric power
stations in northern PRC since 2016 and it has become one of
the core businesses of the Group. The installed capacity of the
two hydroelectric power stations are 3,500kw and 3,200kw
respectively and those hydroelectric power stations are connected
to the national power grid which support the industrial use.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the two hydroelectric
power stations generated a total of electricity of approximately
23,536,000kw (2022: 19,770,000kw), eliminated CO,e emissions
of approximately 23,000 tonnes (2022: 19,300 tonnes).
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SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practices

The Group believes that employees are the most important
asset of the Group. During the reporting period, the Group
complied with all relevant laws, regulations and rules including
the Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Labor Law of the
People’s Republic of China ({(Fr ¥ A R EMEI 4 &)%), the Laws
on the Protection of Minors of the People’s Republic of China (/1
= AR LA E KA F AREE)) and the Labour Contract Law
of the People’s Republic of China ((FFZE AR KBS EE [F)E))
in the PRC related to compensation, dismissal, recruitment and
promotion to protect the rights and benefits of the employees.

The Group established policies and procedures on human
resources management in respect of recruitment, promotion,
compensation, dismissal, equal opportunity, anti-discrimination,
benefits and welfare, etc..

The Group offers remuneration packages at a competitive level
and reviews them on a regular basis in order to recruit and
retain the employees. The employees’ remuneration, promotion,
salary increments and discretionary bonus are assessed based on
both individual’s and the Group’s performance, professional and
working experience via comprehensive performance evaluation
system and by reference to prevailing market practice and
standards.

The Group also promotes equal opportunity for employees
towards gender, race, religion, age, disability, sexual orientation,
nationality, political opinion, or social or ethnic origin. No
employee is allowed to be subject to any form of discrimination
on recruitment, training development and career development. By
gender, the Group's workforce are mostly male during the year
ended 31 March 2023. The Company has taken and continues to
take steps to promote gender diversity at all levels. The Group has
implemented policies to ensure that female employees enjoy due
vacations and insurance in accordance with the law and to create
a good working environment for female employees. Active steps
were taken in promoting diversity in recruitment. The Company
aims to gradually increase the female portion in workforce.
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As at 31 March 2023, the Group had total of 21 full time
employees. In addition, during the reporting period, 4 employees
left the Group.

The table below shows the workforce distribution and turnover
rate by gender, age group and geographical regions:

R-ZZE-_ZF=ZA=+—8 A&E@EEEAL
H21EZ2MES - N REERREHR
BAREEEERY -

TRIRRMR - Ficdr R EE 508
I RomAEBER

No. of staff Turnover rate
BI¥H MEE
Gender el
Male = 16 14%
Female 8 150%
Age Group FEaR
18-30 18 £305% - -
31-50 31 &505% 20 33%
Over 50 507% A £ 1 -
Geographical Regions 3 [
Hong Kong B -
The PRC Fh 18 38%
Health and Safety BERZE

The Group strives to provide a healthy and safe working
environment for all employees and believes that it can enhance
their sense of belonging and productivity. The Group requires all
departments in different regions to strictly follow relevant laws
and regulations in relation to safe working environment and
protection for occupational hazards, such as the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance in Hong Kong and Work Safety
Law of the People’s Republic of China ((FFEAREFH L 2
H E X)) in the PRC. Further, the Group and its construction
contractors strictly followed and complied with the Construction
Law of the People’s Republic of China ({FP 2 A R L ME L))
in the PRC which specify the provisions for construction permit,
insurance, supervision, safety production management and quality

management.

China Sinostar Group Company Limited Annual Report 2023

AEBBIRNAERETIRHERZEZNT
ERRYRR/EARITE I ZGEBRREE
N e REBBRE T RSB #BFIBRIEE T
BER2THERREBERRFRENERE
AR mEANCBEZ 2 RBERRID K
hREI P E ARKMBE L 2 EEE) © thoh -
AEBRHZEABHBEBERLETHE
P EARRMBEREZR) PR E IR
EoRR BB XEEEEENEEEE

ZHRTE e



The Group complies with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational hazards. Safety
procedures are established for the prevention of occupational
diseases and will be reviewed regularly. Workplaces are properly
designed with emergency exits and first aid facilities are installed;
clear guidelines for work under extreme weather conditions in
accordance with relevant regulations are formulated. The Group
also provides with occupational safety training to our employee to
enhance their safety awareness.

In addition, the Group provides personal protective equipment
to employees according to the needs of positions, such as those
employees who are working in the construction sites, and qualified
supervisors are assigned to monitor and ensure that employees
wear appropriate personal protective equipment. During the year
ended 31 March 2023, there were no reported work-related
fatalities or lost day due to work injury (2022: Nil).

In response to the recurring COVID-19 pandemic occurred during
the year, the Group adopted various measures, including flexible
working hours and work from home arrangement in order to

prevent the spread of COVID-19 pandemic at workplaces.

Development and Training

The Group conceives that training plays an important role for
personal development, work efficiency and productivity. The
Group encourages its employees at all levels to participate in
different training programs to improve knowledge and skills
for discharging duties at work. During the reporting period,
our employees, senior management and Directors engaged in
different training programs provided by the government, non-
profit statutory or professional bodies and professional education
centers.
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Labour Standards

The Group complies with the relevant labour laws, regulations
and rules in its operating regions, including Hong Kong and
the PRC. We comply with, in all material respects, the following
relevant codes of practice and ordinances during the process
of employment, remuneration, promotion and termination: the
Hong Kong Sex Discrimination Ordinance issued by the Equal
Opportunities Commission, Disability Discrimination Ordinance,
Family Status Discrimination Ordinance, Race Discrimination
Ordinance and the Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong and the
Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China ({2 A R 2L 1
£58))7%)), Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor ({Z£
1L AE T E)) and Law on the Protection of Minors of the
People’s Republic of China ({22 AR HXMBIRKF AREE))
in the PRC.

In order to prevent child and forced labour, the Group conducts
background checks, such as age, academic qualification, previous
job references, so as to ensure the employees meet the minimum
age standard and applicable laws in those designated regions.
During the reporting period, the Group did not discover any
employment of child labour nor any violation against the relevant
laws and regulations related to forced labour.

As such, during the reporting period, the Group did not come to
any material non-compliance case that constituted violation of
employment related laws and regulations.

Supply Chain Management

To maintain the quantity as well as the quality of our products
and to manage environment and social risks of supply chain, the
Group emphasises on the selection of suppliers and maintains an
approved list of the suppliers in which the admission is subject to
the assessment of their background, quality and quantity of the
products, time management, prices and response to suggestions
and customers’ feedback. During the year ended 31 March 2023,
there were a total of 7 approved suppliers in the PRC.
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Moreover, the management team reviews and updates the list
from time to time. Regular meetings are arranged between
suppliers and management team for the improvement of products
and services and review on customers’ feedback. The management
team will take consideration into the quality of products and
services, pricing, reliability, capacity and the efficiency to response
to our customers’ feedback when selecting suppliers. With long-
term relationships with the suppliers, we also share our vision,
commitment to quality and business ethics to them.

Products and Services Quality

The Group adhered to the vision of “customer-first, all wins,
harmony-oriented, environmental friendly, result driven” and
we strictly follow relevant local laws and regulations, industry
practices and internal procedures to provide a spectrum of quality
services to our customers. We value the feedbacks from our
customers and have in place procedures to ensure that feedbacks
and complaints from customers get handled in timely and
appropriate manner. Customers can provide us the feedback via
email, call or in person to our offices in Hong Kong and the PRC.
When handling complaints, a designated customer services officer
will be assigned and properly record all details of the complaints
and liaise with the employee or department involved to conduct
an investigation. In the progress of investigation, we consider and
evaluate the seriousness in nature, relevant evidence, complexity
and other factors and provide solutions to the customer within the
promised timing. In order to maintain and enhance the services
quality, all front desks and supervisors in the PRC receive not less
than 4 hours per month of training.

The Group believes that responsible and transparent information
management is crucial for marketing and data handling and
processing. For the sales of properties in the PRC, all marketing
materials and sales brochures which list out the details fittings and
fixtures guidelines were prepared according to the relevant local
laws and regulations.

During the reporting period, the Group did not receive any
material complaint or demand for any kind of compensation from
the customers, or recalls for safety and health reasons in relation
to the products and services.
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Personal Data Protection

Regarding personal data protection and privacy, the Group
complies with applicable laws and regulations, such as the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance in Hong Kong. Relevant rules
and guidelines are also set out in the employment contracts so as
to ensure compliance.

Anti-corruption

Integrity, ethics, fairness and honesty are the core values of the
Group. The Group formulated policies against bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering in accordance with the relevant laws
and regulations, such as the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance in
Hong Kong and Anti-Corruption and Bribery Laws of the People’s
Republic of China ((FF# A R HFE R &5 858 A)) in the PRC.
Whistle-blowing policy is also in place as a private and confidential
communication channel for all stakeholders to report suspected
misconduct or fraudulent activities to the management of the
Company. Ongoing review of the effectiveness of the internal
control systems is conducted on a regular basis in preventing the
occurrence of corruption activities. Anti-corruption training will be
provided to employees as and when necessary. For the year ended
31 March 2023, there was no concluded legal case regarding
corrupt practices brought against the Group or its employees.

Community Investment

The Group encourages its employees to dedicate their time to
support the local community by participating in charity activities
and fund-raising events and making donations to non-profit
organisation. In addition, the Group will also make donations and
contributes goods to local charities, churches and those are in
need.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESRWE

The Directors present this annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its principal
subsidiaries are engaged in properties development, properties
investment, properties management and operation and management of
hydroelectric power stations during the year ended 31 March 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31 March
2023 which includes an analysis of the Group’s financial performance,
particulars of important events affecting the Group during the reporting
year as well as discussion on the Group’s future business development are
provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of
this annual report.

The objectives and policies of the capital risk management and financial
risk management of the Group are set out in notes 5 and 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Discussion on the Group’s environmental issues, policies and compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have significant impact on the
Company and the Group’s key relationships with its employees, customers
and suppliers that have significant impact on the Company are provided
in the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of

this annual report.

COMPLIANCE AND LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group established procedures and policies to ensure its operations
comply with applicable laws, rules and regulations and that those policies
and practices are regularly reviewed for adequacy. Furthermore, senior
management is delegated with continuing responsibility to monitor

compliance with all significant legal and regulatory requirements.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, as far as it is aware, the Group has
complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on its business and operations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The corporate governance report of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2023 is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 74. The Directors have determined that no dividends will
be paid in respect of the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

Details of principal properties held for sale, properties for sale under
development and properties held for investment purposes are set out
in notes 22, 21 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements and
paragraph headed “Business Review — Properties Development” in

“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

SHARE ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the shares issued during the year ended 31 March 2023 are set
out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

There is no reserve available for distribution to the Shareholders as at 31
March 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws and there
was no restriction against such rights under the laws of Bermuda, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 176 of this annual report.
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TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2023, neither the Company nor its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed

securities.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date of
this Directors’ Report were:

Executive Directors

Wang Jing (Chairman)
Wang Xing Qiao (Chief Executive Officer)
Zhao Shuang

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Su Bo
Tang Shengzhi
Zeng Guanwei

Pursuant to Code Provision B.2.2, all the Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation at the subsequent annual general meetings of
the Company at least once every three years, provided that, the retired
Directors, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the annual
general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY'S BUSINESS

No transactions, arrangements and contract of significance in relation to
the Group’s business, to which the Company, any of its controlling entities
or its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a material
interest, directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the year.

COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 March 2023, none of the Directors is interested
in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY OR ANY SPECIFIED
UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company in the shares and share options of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance in Hong Kong (the “SFO")) which
are required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
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provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) pursuant to the Model
Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as

follows:

(i) Long Position in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”)

Long Position/

1691 55 352 /B SRR B IR ATk 2 B 52 D 2 M Rk
£ ROBBEETFABMG AR 7 RB R 2
HRABMT :

NN

0] RELXTRBTRED ZRAE

Approximate

percentage of

issued share

Number of  capital in the

Name of Directors Short Position Capacity Shares held Company

G AT
Ry BBRTRARZ

EEHE RE/%KR 14 ROEE BOBDHT

Executive Director

HITES

Wang Jing Long Position Interest of controlled 108,591,364 51.02%
corporation (Note)

T& RE MEEHNEE 2 (B¥5E)

Wang Xing Qiao Long Position Beneficial Owner 163,750 0.08%

TES & BEREBA

Independent Non-Executive Director

BYFHTES

Zeng Guanwei Long Position Beneficial Owner 275,500 0.13%

B RE BEREBA

Note:  These 108,591,364 Shares are held by Achieve Prosper Capital
Limited, a company wholly and beneficially owned by Hong Kong
Shihua Holdings Limited, which is in turn wholly and beneficially
owned by Liaoning Shihua. Mr. Wang Jing is the beneficial owner
of 82.8% of the equity interest in Liaoning Shihua. By virtue
of the SFO, Mr. Wang Jing is deemed to be interested in these
108,591,364 Shares.
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(ii) Directors’ interests in the shares of associated corporations (ii) EERNEBEIE 2RO 2 S
Approximate
percentage
Number of of issued
ordinary shares share capital
in Achieve in Achieve
Name of associated Long Position/Short Prosper Capital ~ Prosper Capital
corporation Name of Director Capacity Position Limited Limited
RERER
REKER BRAH
ERARZ EBREIREZ
HHEEE LR EEHE e RR/%# ERREE BRBSL
Achieve Prosper Capital Wang Jing Interest of controlled Long Position 1,000,000 100%
Limited corporation
EREARBERAF T& REEGER 2 3]
Save as disclosed above and other than certain nominee shares [ EXFTIEERES AR R A KEE QRIS
in subsidiaries held by Directors in trust for the Company or its A RFAMB AR ZE THRIBARMDIN - RAELR
subsidiaries, as at the date of this annual report, none of the HE EARNAEE T ETHA B KE 2 B
Directors, chief executive of the Company nor their associates 2 AR AR Rl sk EAE M AEEE (& B EH M
had any interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying ~ E1&f)) ZE @D - HERD R EEEFHEER
Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated  1EE 5 R EIEHEXVEBE 7 R 8D I F HE A
corporations (within the meaning of the SFO) as notified to the AR LB X 2 XA ETAR (BREBREEAL
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of ~ HRE &A1 2 BRAEN - HEWEFSIW R AEE 2
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which ~ #zE KABE) » KRN IRIEE F K& B E (5] 55 352
is taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or 1§78 ¥ 17 & 2 Bl 2 A 0K A SR IFIZ &
as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352  SFRIBITAE ARG LB AT 2 EAERSAR -
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS EEEXN

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the

whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were

entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2023.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The aggregate sale attributable to the Group’s largest customer and five
largest customers accounted for approximately 36% and approximately
47% respectively of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31
March 2023. The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier and five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 32% and
approximately 78% respectively of the Group’s total purchases for the
year ended 31 March 2023. None of the Directors, their associates, or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) has any interest in

the Group’ five largest customers and suppliers.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2023, the following persons, other than the interest
disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors and chief executive’s
interests and/or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any specified undertaking of the Company
or any other associated corporation”, had 5% or more interest in the
Shares and underlying Shares have notified to the Company and have
been recorded in the register of substantial shareholders’ interests in
Shares and short positions required to be kept under Section 336 of Part
XV of the SFO:

FTEHRERHHEETF

AEBGARAARTP ZHERE S AhAEER
HE-Z-_=—F-A=-t+—HLEEEBKEZH
36% RA47% - AEBRARAAEER 2EER
BOREAEBEREBEE_T-_=F=-A=+—H1
FERBEBTEIN32% KKT78% - BIEEE - Hig
BASKAREMRER BRESHMANEERLF 5%
NEBRRN)EARAEERARES RMHEEPES TR

e

1

o

Bk

FERR

MRZBZ=F=ZRA=+—H UTAT(EEFKE
EITRABRERBHARRNEAERAEESLE
I E A AHBOAE 2 Bty 1R I MAERERE 2 #E et
/SRR VBREFR R BERERRIN) B 1) & AER
PRIF5% WA E 2 s - WEME AR A MR
RS REGIIEXVEEIBHREFEZTR
BERB DS ROR R BRRMA

Aggregate
percentage of
Number of Shares issued share

are underlying capital as at 31

Name of shareholders Nature of interest Shares March 2023
CEy
—E-=HF
=ZA=t+—HE
4752 BIIRAZ
REAR,HR s HERME B EPild
Achieve Prosper Capital Limited Beneficial Owner 108,591,364 51.02%
ERERGRAF BB A
Hong Kong Shihua Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporation 108,591,364 51.02%
ERBEZERERAT MEEHEE 2 B
Liaoning Shihua Interest of controlled corporation 108,591,364 51.02%
BEEEE MEEHEE 2
Hu Bao Qin Spouse interest 108,591,364 51.02%
HE=S fe B
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Aggregate
percentage of
Number of Shares issued share

are underlying capital as at 31

Name of shareholders Nature of interest Shares March 2023
Atk
—ERB-=5F
=Z=A=+—HE
B K& BIIRAZ
BRERERE 1A EEME HERDEE Epal4
Lushan Investment Holding Limited (Note 1)  Person having a security interest in shares 145,895,712 68.55%
Lushan Investment Holding Limited (fif5E 1) #EARGEFEDEZ AL
China Huarong Asset Management Co., Ltd  Interest of controlled corporation 145,895,712 68.55%
(Note 1)
TRHEREETERMERAF (1) REEHDEE 2 ER
China Huarong International Holdings Ltd Interest of controlled corporation 145,895,712 68.55%
(Note 1)
B E R BTG IR A F] (FiEE1) MEEHEE 2
Lai Kar Yan (Note 2) Receiver 108,591,364 51.02%
RER (fH:E2) EEA
Chan Man Hoi (Note 2) Receiver 108,591,364 51.02%
bR (5T 2) ZEA
Notes: M 5
1. These 145,895,712 Shares are held by Lushan Investment Holding Limited, 1. #% % 145,895,712 I f% 19 M Lushan Investment
a company wholly and beneficially owned by China Huarong International Holding Limited (—FE AP EZE @ B R IE R AR A
Holdings Ltd. AEERERHAANDR)RFSE
2. 108,591,364 Shares (the “Charged Shares”) was pledged by Achieve 2. ELERAR AT 108,591,364 A% IX 17 ([ R 52 %

Prosper Capital Limited in favour of Lushan Investment Holding Limited.
On 6 November 2020, Lai Kar Yan and Chan Man Hoi were appointed as
joint and several receivers over the Charged Shares. The Charge Shares
represented approximately 51.02% of the issue share capital of the
Company as at 31 March 2023.

As at 31 March 2023, Achieve Prosper Capital Limited is wholly and
beneficially owned by Hong Kong Shihua Holdings Limited, which is in
turn wholly and beneficially owned by Liaoning Shihua. Mr. Wang Jing is
the beneficial owner of 82.8% of the equity interest in Liaoning Shihua.
By virtue of the SFO, Hong Kong Shihua Holdings Limited, Liaoning
Shihua, Mr. Wang Jing and Ms. Hu Bao Qin, the spouse of Mr. Wang
Jing, were deemed to be interested in the said 108,591,364 Shares held
by Achieve Prosper Capital Limited.
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3 ]) E#8 T Lushan Investment Holding Limited ° 7
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#951.02% °
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On 30 December 2015, Achieve Prosper Capital Limited transferred the
326,086,956 then existing shares of the Company (being 16,304,348
Shares) which were conversion shares (the “Conversion Shares”) of
the Company and were issuable upon the exercise of the convertible
bonds to Lushan Investment Holding Limited. During the year ended 31
March 2018, the convertible bonds were fully converted and a total of
326,086,956 then existing shares of the Company (being 16,304,348
Shares) were allotted and issued, credited as fully paid to Lushan
Investment Holding Limited.

On 14 March 2016, Achieve Prosper Capital Limited entered into a
share charge with Lushan Investment Holding Limited, pursuant to
which Achieve Prosper Capital Limited has pledged 2,171,827,290 then
existing shares of the Company (being 108,591,364 Shares) in favour
of Lushan Investment Holding Limited. In addition, further 420,000,000
then existing shares of the Company (being 21,000,000 Shares) held by
Achieve Prosper Capital Limited was transferred to Lushan Investment
Holding Limited pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement entered by
Achieve Prosper Capital Limited and Lushan Investment Holding Limited
(please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 16 March 2016
for further details).

China Huarong International Holdings Ltd owns 100% of Lushan
Investment Holding Limited, which is owned as to 88.1% by Huarong
Real Estate Co., Ltd, which is in turn wholly-owned by China Huarong
Asset Management Co., Ltd. By virtue of the SFO, both China Huarong
International Holdings Ltd and China Huarong Asset Management Co.,
Ltd are deemed to be interested in the 145,895,712 Shares held by
Lushan Investment Holding Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO recorded no other

interests, short positions or long positions in the Shares.

RZE-—RF+TRA=1+H ZXELFRAA
£ #:£326,086,956 (R A 2 Al B K 3R A MR {p (BN
16,304,348 B¢ i% {3 ) F Lushan Investment Holding
Limited » & Z MM AR R RIEHRAR 5 ([E#RARG 1)
AR MRESETERET - BHE_T—N\F
ZEA=+T—HLFE ARRESSETHER
il & $£326,086,956 X A 1 7] & i 3] A M fp (B
16,304,348 & X 1) A ABR B #2277 =\ B 3 &%
E%17 ¥ Lushan Investment Holding Limited ©

RZE-—R"FZA+NA  ELERNFR A AH
Lushan Investment Holding Limited 5] 32 f% 5 # &2 -
Bk EREABRDA2,171,827,290 R RN 1
AE R ARM (B1108,591,364 & Ak 15) BH T
Lushan Investment Holding Limited ° Itb o) - AR & 3E &8
& RN BF BR A &) B Lushan Investment Holding Limited
AV EERE  ERERNEBERARFAEHEIN
420,000,000 f & 2 =] & A5 3R A R £ (B 21,000,000
A A% 17 ) B 83 F Lushan Investment Holding Limited
(E—FHFBERLGHARFTBRA-ST - F=A
TREBZRE)

FPEERBMBERIERER AR Z2EHEA Lushan
Investment Holding Limited - M Lushan Investment
Holding Limited Fi Huarong Real Estate Co., Ltd # &
88.1% ## %5 ' Huarong Real Estate Co., Ltd i A B &
MEETERNERAAZERSE - REBEEF LB
BiEp PRIERBIRERER AT R A EERDE
EEE RN AR D RHHER A H Lushan Investment
Holding Limited FT# 145,895,712 B & {7 o A 125 -

B EXHHEN RZE_=F=A=+—H K

NENRIRE M A EIGDIE 336 iRiEF 2 BT
WERBEME RO ER KAHER -
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CHARGED SHARES HELD BY ACHIEVE PROSPER
CAPITAL LIMITED

With reference to the announcement of the Company dated 13
November 2020, the Company was informed by its controlling
shareholder, Achieve Prosper Capital Limited, on 12 November 2020 that
it received a letter from Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu dated 6 November
2020 regarding the appointment of Lai Kar Yan and Chan Man Hoi as
joint and several receivers over 2,171,827,290 then existing shares of the
Company (being 108,591,364 Shares) held by Achieve Prosper Capital
Limited. The Charged Shares represent approximately 51.02% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March 2023. Please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 13 November 2020, 13
December 2020, 13 January 2021, 13 February 2021, 13 March 2021,
13 April 2021, 13 May 2021, 13 June 2021, 13 July 2021, 13 August
2021, 13 September 2021, 13 October 2021, 13 November 2021, 13
December 2021, 13 January 2022, 13 February 2022, 13 March 2022, 13
April 2022, 13 May 2022, 13 June 2022, 13 July 2022, 12 August 2022,
13 September 2022, 13 October 2022, 11 November 2022, 12 December
2022, 12 January 2023, 10 February 2023, 10 March 2023, 11 April
2023, 11 May 2023 and 12 June 2023 for further details.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

The Group did not enter into any connected transactions during the year
ended 31 March 2023.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company, and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float not less than 25% of Company’s issued shares as
required under the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 March
2023.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

According to the Bye-laws, the Directors shall be indemnified out of the
funds of the Company against all liabilities incurred by him as a Director in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment
is given in favour, or in which he is acquitted, or in connection with
any application under the Companies Act in which relief from liability is
granted to him by the court.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the financial year and up to
the date of this Directors’ Report, there was or is, any permitted indemnity
provision being in force for the benefit of any of the Directors (whether
made by the Company or otherwise) or an associated company (if made
by the Company).

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received the annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors as required under Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considered all independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 have been
audited by Mazars CPA Limited who will retire and, be eligible to offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wang Jing
CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong
30 June 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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mazars

To the shareholders of
China Sinostar Group Company Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Sinostar Group Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 74 to 176, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2023, and
of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to the “Going concern” section in note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements, which indicates that as at 31 March
2023, the Group has borrowings of HK$21,716,000 and bonds payable
of HK$8,282,000 that are repayable within one year at the end of the
reporting period. At the same date, the Group has bank balances and
cash of HK$4,196,000. The Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
depends on the successful and favourable outcomes of the measures
being implemented by the Group. These conditions indicate that a
material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore that it may be unable
to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of
business.

The directors, having considered the measures being taken by the
Group as described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
are of the opinion that the Group would be able to continue as a going
concern. Accordingly, the directors have prepared the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis. The consolidated financial
statements do not include any adjustments that would result from a
failure of achieving the measures. We consider appropriate disclosures
have been made in this respect. Our opinion is not modified in respect of
this matter.

EEECERENERTREM
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In
addition to the matter described in the “Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern” section, we have determined the matters

described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

(i) Net realisable value of properties for sale under development and properties held for sale

Refer to Notes 4(b), 21 and 22 to the consolidated financial

statements.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had properties for sale
under development and properties held for sale amounting
to HK$112,169,000 and HK$99,112,000 respectively, which
together accounted for 69% of the Group’s total assets and are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value (“NRV").

The NRV of properties held for sale is estimated by the
management with reference to estimated selling prices of the
properties less costs to be incurred in selling the properties.
The NRV of properties for sale under development is assessed
with reference to valuations carried out by an independent
professional valuer (“valuer”) engaged by the Group, based on
estimated selling prices of the properties less estimated costs of
completion and costs to be incurred in selling the properties.

We have identified the assessment of NRV of the Group's
properties held for sale and properties for sale under
development as a key audit matter because of their significance
to the consolidated financial statements and significant
estimation and judgement involved in the estimation of the
NRV.
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Our key procedures, among others, included:

- Conducting site visits to property development sites,
on a sample basis, and discussing with management
the progress and development budgets reflected in the
NRV calculation for each of those property development
projects;

- Obtaining the NRV calculations prepared by management
and discussing with those individuals who prepared the
calculations for an understanding of the basis and key
input data used in the NRV calculations;

- Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated selling
prices of the properties held for sale used by the
management, on sample basis, with reference to the
latest selling prices of the same projects;

- Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated selling
prices of the properties for sale under development used
by the management, on sample basis, with reference to
valuation from the valuer and transaction price of similar

properties;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

(i)

66
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Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated costs of
completion for properties for sale under development
and costs to be incurred in selling for properties held
for sale and properties for sale under development used
by the management, on sample basis, by comparing
the actual development costs, committed costs to be
incurred in selling the properties and adjustment made
by the management in the future costs to completion to
current market data;

Re-performing the calculations made by management in
arriving at the year-end assessments of NRV on a sample
basis;

Reviewing the valuation from the valuer and discussing
with management and the valuer to understand the
valuation basis and methodology used, and underlying
assumptions;

Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of
the valuer;

Considering the relevance and reasonableness of key
assumptions and methods used, and the relevance and
accuracy of the source data used;

Engaging auditor’s expert to assist us in assessing the
reasonableness of key assumptions and judgements used
by management and the independent external valuer;
and

Assessing the competence, objectivity and capabilities of
auditor’s expert and the work of the auditor’s expert.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYBBEHRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

(ii) Valuation of investment properties

Refer to Notes 4(d) and 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 March 2023, the investment properties of the Group
were stated at fair value of HK$35,831,000.

We have identified the valuation of the investment properties

as a key audit matter because the valuation involves significant
estimations and assumptions, which are judgmental.
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Our key procedures, among others, included:

Reviewing the valuation from the valuer and discussing
with management and the valuer to understand the
valuation basis and methodology used, and underlying
assumptions;

Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of
the valuer;

Considering the relevance and reasonableness of key
assumptions and methods used, and the relevance and
accuracy of the source data used;

Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures on the fair
value measurement of investment properties including
the fair value measurement hierarchy, the valuation
technique and significant unobservable inputs in the
consolidated financial statements;

Engaging auditor’s expert to assist us in assessing the
reasonableness of key assumptions and judgements used
by management and the independent external valuer;
and

Assessing the competence, objectivity and capabilities of
the auditor’'s expert and the work of the auditor’s expert.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the
Company’s 2023 annual report but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial

reporting process. The audit committee assists the directors in discharging
their responsibility in this regard.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONT'D)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that

we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we

have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that

may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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BYRBEHRE

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONT'D)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law and regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 30 June 2023

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

Yip Ngai Shing
Practising Certificate number: P05163
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeERBERHEMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-HA=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E= —E -

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

s FET FHET

Revenue Wz 8 23,764 38,939

Cost of sales 5 & AR (20,351) (27,923)

Gross profit EF 3,413 11,016

Loss on revaluation of investment properties &Y% 2 EEEE 17 (16,157) (7,056)

Other gain and loss Huhas Rk EE 10 121 98

Administrative expenses THMAX (34,588) (17,729)

Finance costs I EIDES 1 (3,954) (3,880)

Loss before tax BRE A B 12 (51,165) (17,551)

Income tax expenses FRSHik X 14 (45) (56)

Loss for the year FEFE (51,210) (17,607)

Other comprehensive (loss) income: Hib2E (BH) & :
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently to BE/AFIsEEFH D IAEIBH 2
profit or loss: BA :
Exchange difference arising on translation MEBINEBEE S

of foreign operations MEHZR (27,618) 15,156

Total comprehensive loss for the year FELHEEBREE (78,828) (2,451)

HK cents HK cents

Rl pxll]

Loss per share BREE 16 (24.06) (8.27)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ma MEIRR R

At 31 March 2023
R-E-Z=F=H=+—H

2023 2022
—=== ===
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
BT FET FHET
Non-current assets IRBEE
Investment properties B 17 35,831 56,164
Property, plant and equipment W - WE R EE 18 31,762 39,067
Right-of-use assets EAEEE 19 272 634
67,865 95,865
Current assets REEE
Trade receivables, deposits and B HEWHIE ke ik
other receivables H fih B Y 3118 20 23,887 66,679
Properties for sale under development BRERPSEME 21 112,169 118,997
Properties held for sale FERE 2 W 22 99,112 118,268
Bank balances and cash IRTTEB NS 4,196 12,673
239,364 316,617
Current liabilities REEE
Amount due to a director B —RESHE 24 86 193
Amount due to immediate holding company &t B ZE I A BB 24 7,728 2,420
Trade payables and accrued charges B S REMNFRIERERER 25 26,296 33,831
Lease liabilities HEa®R& 19 301 363
Contract liabilities ERBEE 23 5,749 6,840
Current tax liabilities BEAIB &R 5,304 6,291
Borrowings EBE 26 21,716 40,181
Bonds payable R EH 27 8,282 11,500
75,462 101,619
Net current assets REBEEFE 163,902 214,998
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBERE 231,767 310,863
Non-current liabilities FRBERE
Lease liabilities HEaRE 19 - 268
NET ASSETS EEFE 231,767 310,595
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BRI R

At 31 March 2023
R-E-—=F=H=+—H

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B & FET FiBT

Capital and reserves BAR&E
Share capital IR AR 29 2,128 2,128
Reserves ] 30 229,639 308,467
TOTAL EQUITY MR 231,767 310,595

The consolidated financial statements on pages 74 to 176 were approved

and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2023 and

signed on its behalf by:

Wang Jing

&
Director

BF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

Capital
Share Share  Translation  redemption  Contributed ~ Accumulated
capital premium* reserve® reserve* surplus* losses* Total
RE - BREE:  EXRE BOREE  SARR:  ZiEB- 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET TET TET TET FAT TAT
At 1 April 2021 RZZZ-FNA—H 2,128 394,379 182 577,204 64,349 (725,196) 313,046
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - (17,607) (17,607)
Other comprehensive income: E 2 E iz
Exchange difference arising ~ BEEIEBELZ
on translation of foreign EREE
operations - - 15,156 - - - 15,156
Total comprehensive loss ~ FE2HAFBAE
for the year - - 15,156 - - (17,607) (2,451)
At 31 March 2022 M-ZZE--fF=R
=+—H 2,128 394,379 15,338 577,204 64,349 (742,803) 310,595
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERSBR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-HA=+—HIFE

Capita
Share Share  Translation redemption Contributed Accumulated
capital premium* reserve® reserve® surplus* losses* Total
-ES
kA REEr  EXfEr  BEEE*  BARSr RGEEr 3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FBT TB FBT FBT TET FET
At 1 April 2022 RZE-__#WA—A 2,128 394,379 15,338 577,204 64,349 (742,803) 310,595
Loss for the year FEBR - - - - - (51,210) (51,210)
Other comprehensive loss: 2 EEE
Exchange difference arising ~ BEENERELZ
on translation of foreign EREE
operations - - (27,618) - - - (27,618)
Total comprehensive loss ~ FE2HF A
for the year - - (27,618) - - (51,210 (78,828)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F
ZR=+-H 2,128 394,379 (12,280) 577,204 64,349 (794,013) 231,767
* These reserve accounts comprise the reserves in the consolidated statement * RERERERREEAMBIRRR ZHE ZEH

of financial position. The nature and purpose of these reserves are detailed in

note 30(c) to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERTMER

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E—= =
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Pt o FET FHBT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REES
Loss before tax BRI A& 1B (51,165) (17,551)
Adjustments for: FHEE
Finance costs B TS R R 3,954 3,880
Loss on revaluation of investment properties &% 7 E {45518 17 16,157 7,056
Depreciation of property, plant and M BERZERE
equipment 3,146 3,332
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 362 1,032
Interest income FEHBA (15) (25)
Operating cash flows before changes in EEELEHAZ
working capital REBFEESRE (27,561) (2,276)
Changes in working capital: EEELEY !
Trade receivables, deposits and other ZHRWGIE  HE Rk
receivables H fh U FRIE 37,763 (24,343)
Properties for sale under development BRPGEWE (1,882) (11,448)
Properties held for sale FHERE 2% 10,452 22,452
Trade payables and accrued charges B RNFIERER B A (6,758) 1,478
Contract liabilities aHatE (587) (888)
Net cash from (used in) operations BEEEX (TR 2BESFHE 11,427 (15,025)
Income tax paid EATFTSH (569) (1,167)
Net cash flows generated from (used in)  &E&EFBELE (FiA) 2
operating activities RERBFE 10,858 (16,192)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Interest received 2 F A 15 25
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE - WE MEE (46) (24)
Net cash flows (used in) generated from  REZE (FTA)EEXZ
investing activities RERBFER (31) 1
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS
IL \éiﬁaﬁﬁéi

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-HA=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-—F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
P& FET FHET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES &R B 33(a)
(Repayment to) Advance from immediate (BEEEZERARKE)
holding company HEZERARBRR (14,619) 176
Repayment to related companies Epclea)-/NSIE/ S - (66)
(Repayment to) Advance from a director (BEEBEEFRB)EEEXK (93) 9
New borrowings raised TESEE - 18,243
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (1,617) (1,727)
Interest paid on lease liabilities ENHEAETEL (30) (33)
Interest paid on bonds payable ERESEZ BT (800) (350)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEaE (330) (1,298)
Net cash flows (used in) generated from  REEE (FTA)EEZ
financing activities HEREFE (17,489) 14,954
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RERBELHEEYRD FHE (6,662) (1,237)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the RIEHIN 2R RIREFEY
reporting period 12,673 12,087
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [EREB) w2 (1,815) 1,823
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the REEHRZEER
reporting period, represented by bank REZEY  IRITHERR
balances and cash R& 4,196 12,673
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Sinostar Group Company Limited (the “Company”) is an
exempted company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The immediate holding company
of the Company is Achieve Prosper Capital Limited, which was
incorporated in Samoa, and the ultimate holding company of
the Company is Liaoning Shihua (Group) Property Development
Limited* CE=E % (£ B) B E M & B R 2 7)), which was
established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The
addresses of the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate Information”
section of the annual report.

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted in
the 2021/2022 consolidated financial statements except for the
adoption of the following new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to
the Group and effective from the current year:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Annual Improvements to 2018-2020 Cycle

HKFRSs

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

The English name is for identification only.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023

EE—

82

Eo=F=A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs, which collective term includes all
applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs")
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"), and accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
requirements under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and the Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical basis except for the investment properties that are
measured at fair value as explained in the accounting policies set

out below.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$") which is also the functional currency of the

Company.

Going concern

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has borrowings of
HK$21,716,000 and bonds payable of HK$8,282,000 that are
repayable within one year at the end of the reporting period.
At the same date, the Group has bank balances and cash of
HK$4,196,000. The Group's ability to continue as a going concern
depends on the successful and favourable outcomes of the
measures being implemented by the Group. These conditions
indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and,
therefore that it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge
its liabilities in the normal course of business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BB RME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)
Basis of preparation (CONT’D)
Going concern (CONT'D)

Notwithstanding the aforesaid conditions, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis
on the assumption that the Group is able to operate as a going
concern for the foreseeable future. In the opinion of the directors,
the Group can meet its financial obligations as and when they fall
due within the next twelve months, after taking into consideration
of the measures and arrangements made by the Group as detailed

below:

(i) The Group will actively adjust sales and pre-sales activities
to better respond to market needs, and make efforts to
achieve the latest budgeted sales and pre-sales volumes
and amounts;

(i) The Group will maintain continuous communication with

the major constructor and local government authorities
and meet all of the necessary conditions to launch the pre-
sale of the properties for sale under development;

(iii) The Group will also continuously enhance collection
progress from customers;

(iv) The immediate holding company has agreed not to
demand for repayment for outstanding balance of
HK$7,728,000 until the Group has the financial ability to
do so; and

(v) The Group will take various measures to minimise
operating cash outflow.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

Going concern (CONT'D)

Based on a cash flow forecast covering a period up to 31 March
2024 prepared by the management and after taking into account
all assumptions and measures as described above, the directors are
of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient working capital
to maintain its operations and to pay its financial obligations as
and when they fall due for at least twelve months from the end of
the reporting period. Accordingly, the directors consider that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to achieve a combination of the
abovementioned measures, it might not be able to continue
to operate as a going concern, adjustments would have to be
made to reduce the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their
realisation amounts, to provide for additional liabilities which
might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities respectively,
if applicable. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and all of its
subsidiaries. The financial statements of the subsidiaries
are prepared for the same reporting year as that of the
Company using consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and
expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in full. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(a)

Basis of consolidation (CONT'D)
Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income is attributed to the owners of the Company and
the non-controlling interest even if this results in the non-
controlling interest having a deficit balance.

Changes in ownership interest

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair
value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the
Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest
determined at the date when control is lost and (ii)
the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill),
and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interests at the date when control is lost. The amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to the disposed subsidiary are accounted for
on the same basis as would be required if the parent
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Any investment retained in the former subsidiary and
any amounts owed by or to the former subsidiary are
accounted for as a financial asset, associate, joint venture
or others as appropriate from the date when control is
lost.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(b)

(0

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. The Group reassesses whether
it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the elements of

control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is
presented within these notes, an investment in subsidiary
is stated at cost less impairment loss. The carrying amount
of the investment is reduced to its recoverable amount
on an individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable
amount. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use. Repairs and maintenance are charged
to profit or loss during the year in which they are incurred.

China Sinostar Group Company Limited Annual Report 2023

3.

EXREFHHEH)

mHBEXE (&)

(b)

()

B8 A =]

M AR ANEEIEH 2 B - 1
AEERSHBEEEBEAEAE
WAERBREAFEEN - WEEEBE
RZBERZENTZEZFO® - AKX
SEREFHZER MEEERER
R ERZAZGHEERLEE
b AIREESEHRFHELIIRE
EZ PRI -

RARRBZMBARRR (RZFME
23 F - KRB AR ZRE K
AREBEBBARK - & ZREE
ISR AU E S 5R - AR AE I EE R
EHAWEISHE - AR RIEE W R E
WIS EERHBRRZFEAR -

ERN e

W% -~ BB RERBIR AR REH T
ENRERRIIMK - W% BERR
BEBZAARRBEEE REME
B E = R fE IR R N BT E b
EREMEL 2 ERBIEKA - #i{E
REREEFEERETNRE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BB RME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
TEFZA=F—HIUFEE

BE—F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(0

Property, plant and equipment (CONT’D)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less
accumulated impairment losses of property, plant and
equipment over their estimated useful lives from the
date on which they are available for use and after taking
into account their estimated residual values, using the
straight-line method, at rates set out below. Where
parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a
reasonable basis and depreciated separately:

20%—-25%
Over the remaining

Motor vehicles

Leasehold improvement
lease terms

Hydroelectric power stations and ~ 2%-5%

related infrastructure

10%-33%

Plant and machinery 5%-30%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item) is included in profit or
loss in the year in which the item is derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(d)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. An investment property
including property that is being constructed or developed
for future use as investment property is measured initially
at its cost including all direct costs attributable to the

property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated
at fair value at the end of the reporting period based on
valuation by an external independent valuer. Gains or
losses arising from changes in fair value of the investment
property are recognised in profit or loss for the period in
which they arise.

Property that is being constructed or developed for
future use as investment property is stated at cost less
impairment losses until the construction or development
is complete, when it is stated at fair value. The difference
between the fair value and the carrying amount is

recognised in profit or loss.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the property, which is recognised in
profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(e)

(f)

Properties for sale under development

Properties for sale under development are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs
include acquisition costs, prepaid land lease payments,
construction costs, borrowing costs capitalised and other
direct costs attributable to such properties. Net realisable
value is determined with reference to sale proceeds
received after the reporting period less selling expenses
and estimated costs of completion, or by estimates based
on prevailing market condition. Upon completion, the
properties are reclassified to properties held for sale at the

carrying amount.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Costs of properties include acquisition
costs, prepaid land lease payments, construction costs,
borrowing costs capitalised and other direct costs
attributable to such properties. Net realisable value is
determined with reference to sale proceeds received after
the reporting period less selling expenses, or by estimates

based on prevailing market condition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(9

Financial instruments
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i)
the Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows from
the financial asset expire; or (ii) the Group transfers the
financial asset and either (a) it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset; or (b)
it neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset but it does not
retain control of the financial asset.

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without
a significant financing component which are initially
measured at their transaction price) are initially recognised
at their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not
carried at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the

financial assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(@

Financial instruments (CONT'D)
Classification and measurement

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i)
measured at amortised cost; (i) debt investment measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income; (iii)
equity investment measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”); or (iv) measured at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVPL").

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the Group’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual cash
flow characteristics. Financial assets are not reclassified
subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group
changes its business model for managing them, in which
case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the
first day of the first annual reporting period following the
change in the business model.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets
both of the following conditions and is not designated as
at FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective
is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(9

Financial instruments (CONT'D)
Financial assets measured at amortised cost (CONT'D)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising from
impairment, derecognition or through the amortisation
process are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets that are not
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI, including financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon
initial recognition as at FVPL, financial assets resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies and financial assets
that are otherwise required to be measured at FVPL.
They are carried at fair value, with any resultant gain and
loss recognised in profit or loss, which does not include
any dividend or interest earned on the financial assets.
Dividend or interest income is presented separately from
fair value gain or loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i) acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in

the near term;

(i) part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that are managed together and for
which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking on initial recognition;
or
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(@

(h)

Financial instruments (CONT'D)
Financial assets at FVPL (CONT'D)

(iii) a derivative that is not a financial guarantee
contract or not a designated and effective hedging
instrument.

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as at
FVPL only if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or

recognising the gains or losses on them on different bases.

Financial liabilities
Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of

the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when
the liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value
plus, in the case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue
of the financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities are recognised initially at
their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method, unless the effect
of discounting would be insignificant, in which case they
are stated at cost.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

0]

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECL") on financial assets that are measured at
amortised cost to which the impairment requirements
apply in accordance with HKFRS 9. Except for the specific
treatments as detailed below, at each reporting date, the
Group measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at
an amount equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on
that financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition. If the credit risk on a financial asset has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial asset at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e.
the present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected
life of the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are
due to an entity under the contract and the cash flows
that the entity expects to receive. For a lease receivable,
the cash flows used for determining the ECL should be
consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the lease
receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument while 12-month ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
on a financial instrument that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

0]

Impairment of financial assets (CONT'D)
Measurement of ECL (CONT'D)
Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial

instruments are grouped based on one or more of the
following shared credit risk characteristics:

(i) past due information

(i) nature of instrument

(iii) nature of collateral, if any

(iv) industry of debtors

(v) geographical location of debtors

(vi) external credit risk ratings

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk and
loss since initial recognition. The resulting changes in the
loss allowance are recognised as an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to
the carrying amount of the financial instrument, except in
the case of debt investments at FVOCI, the loss allowance
is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

0]

Impairment of financial assets (CONT'D)
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes
as historical experience indicates that the Group may not
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the

financial instrument meets any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group); or

(i) there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more

lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BB RME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
TEFZA=F—HIUFEE

BE—F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

0]

Impairment of financial assets (CONT'D)
Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. In particular, the following information is taken into
account in the assessment:

(i) the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal
or interest on the due dates;

(if) an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

(iii) an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

(iv) actual or expected changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have
or may have a significant adverse effect on the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

0]

Impairment of financial assets (CONT'D)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk
(CONT'D)

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date.

Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit
risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term;
and

(iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables and operating lease receivables, the
Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL.
The Group recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECL at each reporting date and has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors

and the economic environment.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

0]

Impairment of financial assets (CONT'D)

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more

events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated

future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired include

observable data about the following events:

(a

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

borrower.

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due

event.

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not

otherwise consider.

it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

the purchase or origination of a financial asset at
a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit
losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

0]

)

(k)

Impairment of financial assets (CONT'D)
Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has
no reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual
cash flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion
thereof. However, financial assets that are written off
could still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking
into account legal advice if appropriate. Any subsequent
recovery is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at
bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of
the Group's cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents.

Revenue recognition

Rental income under operating lease is recognised when
the properties are let out and on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that depend
on an index or a rate are initially measured using the index
or rate at the commencement date and subsequently
adjusted when such index or rate changes. Such payments
are recognised as income on the straight-line basis
over the lease term. Other variable lease payments are
recognised as income in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers those payments occurs.

Interest income from financial assets is recognised
using the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the assets while it is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount net of loss allowance)
in case of credit-impaired financial assets.

100 China Sinostar Group Company Limited Annual Report 2023

3.

EXREFHHEH)

REEE ()

0]

)

(k)

SHEERME (&)
sy
EAEEARTEHSMEEZAY
HeREEZEARIAD KO &
HEemEELETHE KM £FF&
i%m%&ﬁﬁ SR & B E E Al
BT T8 AR B AR 5 B Uk (3] 380 HA 3008 Y
ﬁrﬁﬁféﬁ@ HizWEmE[
BEBRBIERNIER -

RERREEEY
SEEReRERME  RekRe
EEMERRTRFERS  FRR
TREMSBEE ZE BT TR
AEEERSCNBERSMEE
FERIAzERASRAERE -
BREREEIBRAEERSE
BEHO 2 RITEXTAARS KA
SEEBWMz—HD -

SRR
KEMERT 2 HSWAEDEME
ﬁ%&ﬁ%uﬁﬁ%%ﬁf H&F
—IRIEBL R 2 AT EHENR
ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬂ%zh@i& ﬁﬂ
FTE BERRZEHILETEYR T
AHE - BN TR AN ERE
%EEWA H ] B E AN TR

BZENFOEFRIGEEENH
B FERSWA

ERMEENB AN BRF L
R o BUIREHEK A EMALELRE

BERENSREENS  BERMZE
%Fﬁ?%%ﬁ%@’%@@ﬁéﬁ

Zﬁﬂﬁ AE AR E A (B
EAEMREBRERF) -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(k)

Revenue recognition (CONT'D)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group
is (i) development and sale of properties; (ii) properties
management; and (iii) operation and management of
hydroelectric power stations.

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods
or services promised in a contract with a customer and
identifies as a performance obligation each promise to
transfer to the customer either:

(a) a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services)
that is distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct good or service that are
substantially the same and that have the same
pattern of transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct
if both of the following criteria are met:

(@) the customer can benefit from the good or service
either on its own or together with other resources
that are readily available to the customer (i.e. the
good or service is capable of being distinct); and

(b) the Group’s promise to transfer the good or service
to the customer is separately identifiable from
other promises in the contract (i.e. the promise to
transfer the good or service is distinct within the
context of the contract).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(k)

Revenue recognition (CONT'D)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(CONT'D)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good or
service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred
when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over
time and, therefore, satisfies a performance obligation
and recognises revenue over time, if one of the following

criteria is met:

(a) the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

(© the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the
Group satisfies the performance obligation at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the promised
asset. In determining when the transfer of control occurs,
the Group considers the concept of control and such
indicators as legal title, physical possession, right to
payment, significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
asset, and customer acceptance.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(k)

Revenue recognition (CONT'D)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(CONT'D)

Development and sale of properties

The Group develops and sells residential properties to the
customers. Sale of properties is recognised at a point in
time when control of the property has been transferred,
being when the customer obtains the physical possession
or the legal title of the completed property.

Properties management

The Group provides properties management services
to residential and commercial properties. Properties
management service income is recognised over time when

services are rendered.

Operation and management of hydroelectric power
stations

The Group operates and manages hydroelectric power
stations. The sale of electricity is recognised over time
when electricity is generated and transmitted to the

customer.

For revenue recognised over time under HKFRS 15, the
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation in respect of sale of electricity and properties
management services is measured based on the output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

EXREFTHHE (&)

mELE % (])
(k) Wz (&)

BB IR ERE 1555 EE A K
BEF &Kz (B
MEFREBERHE
AEERBERATFHEETEME
MERBENMENEFIRDER (B
EEFRMBEERMECELEERRE
SORTEFTERE) Z SR B HERR o

MEEE
AEEREERBEDREHRYE
EIRRTS - MEEIERBWAFERM
PR 7 By B B R B 38

7]

IKEUEEE

HE

@

REBELEREEKEY - BEHHE
EHRBELBEERTPRERERER

ARIEE BB ME LR E 155K
FREERNERENS  EREEED
HERMEERREBEHE TNE
ERELEAE  ARBEEEEE
SEEBTREPZEVMIRBAEASL
METABRBENRTEDIRY
EEALEARER YR - ItRERR
REBEHNER G Y R #ZH
ENEHOBER

“ERCC=F5R PHEELEEARDLA 103



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-HA=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

0]

Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services
to a customer before the customer pays consideration
or before payment is due, the contract is presented as
a contract asset, excluding any amounts presented as a
receivable. Conversely, if a customer pays consideration,
or the Group has a right to an amount of consideration
that is unconditional, before the Group transfers a good
or service to the customer, the contract is presented as
a contract liability when the payment is made or the
payment is due (whichever is earlier). A receivable is the
Group’s right to consideration that is unconditional or only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts,
either a net contract asset or a net contract liability is
presented. Contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.

For sale of properties, it is common for the Group
to receive from the customers the whole or some of
the contractual payments before the properties are
delivered (i.e. the timing of revenue recognition for such
transactions). The Group recognises a contract liability
until it is recognised as revenue. During that period, any
significant financing components, if applicable, will be
included in the contract liability and will be expensed
as accrued unless the interest expense is eligible for
capitalisation.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

0]

(m)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (CONT'D)

For properties management service, the Group receives
management fee in advance from the customers before
services are delivered. The Group recognises a contract
liability until it is recognised as revenue. During that
period, any significant financing components, if applicable,
will be included in the contract liability and will be
expensed as accrued unless the interest expense is eligible
for capitalisation.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
internal and external sources of information to assess
whether there is any indication that its property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets may be impaired
or impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists
or may be reduced. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated, based on
the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and value in
use. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the smallest group of assets that
generates cash flows independently (i.e. cash-generating
unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are
recognised as an expense immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversal of impairment loss is
recognised as income in profit or loss immediately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(n)

Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The Company’s
functional currency is HK$.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

The results and financial position of all the group entities
that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency (“foreign operations”) are translated
into the presentation currency as follows:

o Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented and, where applicable,
goodwill and fair value adjustments on the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
an acquisition of a foreign operation which are to
be treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign
operation, are translated at the closing rate at the
end of the reporting period;

. Income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rate;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(n)

Foreign currency translation (CONT'D)

All resulting exchange differences arising from the
above translation and exchange differences arising
from a monetary item that forms part of the
Group’s net investment in a foreign operation are
recognised as a separate component of equity;

On the disposal of a foreign operation, which
includes a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in
a foreign operation, a disposal involving the loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange
differences relating to the foreign operation that
is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the separate component of equity
is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when
the gain or loss on disposal is recognised,;

On the partial disposal of the Group’s interest
in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation
which does not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of the
cumulative amount of the exchange differences
recognised in the separate component of equity
is re-attributed to the non-controlling interests in
that foreign operation and are not reclassified to
profit or loss; and

On all other partial disposals, which includes
partial disposal of joint ventures that do not result
in the Group losing significant influence or joint
control, the proportionate share of the cumulative
amount of exchange differences recognised in the
separate component of equity is reclassified to
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-HA=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(o)

Employee benefits
Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services rendered

by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all employees.
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and employees
are calculated as a percentage of employees’ basic salaries.
The retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit or
loss represents contributions payable by the Group to the
funds. No forfeited contributions for the above plans may
be used by the employer to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BB RME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(p)

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains,
a lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time

in exchange for consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-
term leases and low-value asset leases. Lease payments
associated with these leases are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components from lease components, and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a
lease contract as a lease separately. The Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a
separate component are considered to be part of the total
consideration that is allocated to the separately identified
components of the contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability at the commencement date of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-HA=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(p)

Leases (CONT'D)
As lessee (CONT'D)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which

comprises:

(a) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date, less any lease incentives

received;
(0 any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and
(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group

in dismantling and removing the underlying asset,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of
the lease liability. Depreciation is provided on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the
estimated useful life of the right-of-use asset is as follows:

Office premises 2 years

The lease liability is initially measured at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date of the contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(p)

Leases (CONT'D)
As lessee (CONT'D)

The lease payments comprise the following payments for
the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term
that are not paid at the commencement date:

(a) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

(b) variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate;

(0 amounts expected to be payable under residual
value guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease,

if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily determinable,
the incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing
the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-HA=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(p)

Leases (CONT'D)
As lessee (CONT'D)

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount
rate when there are changes to the lease payments arising
from a change in the lease term or the reassessment of
whether the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase option.

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement
of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use
asset. If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is
reduced to zero and there is a further reduction in the
measurement of the lease liability, the Group recognises
any remaining amount of the remeasurement in profit or
loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if

(a) the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

(b) the consideration for the lease increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BB RME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(p)

Leases (CONT'D)

As lessee (CONT'D)

When a lease modification is not accounted for as

a separate lease, at the effective date of the lease

modification,

(a

the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract on the basis of relative stand-
alone price as described above.

the Group determines the lease term of the
modified contract.

the Group remeasures the lease liability by
discounting the revised lease payments using a

revised discount rate over the revised lease term.

for lease modifications that decrease the
scope of the lease, the Group accounts for the
remeasurement of the lease liability by decreasing
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset to
reflect the partial or full termination of the lease
and recognising any gain or loss relating to the
partial or full termination of the lease in profit or
loss.

for all other lease modifications, the Group
accounts for the remeasurement of the lease
liability by making a corresponding adjustment to
the right-of-use asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-HA=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(p)

Leases (CONT'D)
As lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance
lease or an operating lease at the inception date of the
lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of the underlying asset. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for
the head lease and sublease as two separate contracts.
The sublease is classified as an operating lease if the head
lease is a short-term lease to which the Group has applied
the recognition exemption. Otherwise, the sublease is
classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to
the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.

As lessor — operating lease

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment
requirements in HKFRS 9 to the operating lease
receivables.

A modification to an operating lease is accounted for as
a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments
relating to the original lease as part of the lease payments
for the new lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BB RME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(a)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and
used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset,
the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation
is determined by applying a capitalisation rate to the
expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the
weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the
borrowings of the Group that are outstanding during the
period, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-HA=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(]

Taxation

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.
Current tax liabilities is calculated based on the Group’s
taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from
profit recognised in profit or loss because it excludes items
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BB RME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(n

Taxation (CONT’D)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model of the Group whose business objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred
tax for such investment properties are measured based
on the expected manner as to how the properties will be

recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-HA=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(]

(s)

Taxation (CONT'D)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities
on a net basis.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds
from sales of properties less deductible expenditures
including land costs, borrowing costs, business taxes and
all property development expenditures. LAT is recognised
as an income tax expense. LAT paid is a deductible
expense for PRC enterprise income tax purposes.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family
is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(iii) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Company or of a holding
company of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(s) Related parties (CONT'D)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity)

if any of the following conditions applies:

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

The entity and the Company are members
of the same group (which means that each
holding company, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also related
to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-HA=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT’'D)
Basis of preparation (CONT’D)
(s) Related parties (CONT'D)

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity(or of a holding company of the
entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Company or to a holding company of the
Company.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity

and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic

partner; and

(© dependants of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes

subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes
subsidiaries of the joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

Basis of preparation (CONT’D)

(t)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to
the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purpose of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of the Group’s various lines of business in
different geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of productions processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)
Basis of preparation (CONT’D)
(u) Future changes in HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued the following new/
revised HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the current
year, which the Group has not early adopted.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies '

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates '

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction’

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts '

Amendment to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17
and HKFRS 9 - Comparative
Information !

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current

or Non-current 2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants 2

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback ?

Amendments to HKFRS 10and ~ Sale or Contribution of Assets

HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture 3

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

2 The effective date to be determined

122 China Sinostar Group Company Limited Annual Report 2023

3. EXREBEEE)

RAEXE (H)
R BREERNRRES

(u)

b_/\\ux—r:
/E = u+

) R A

FEPMERRESLEZR B
MAGEBBUTRAFE
MAREBERBRATRAZ

Hal/ eI BB B RE &R -

BEEHENE IR EHBREE

2B

EEEHERESE  fiitzEE

ZEET

BEETEAZ NS HE-QHELNEE

2R kB ERBRELER
IE1

EEMBREEN  RREW

F17%

BEMBREEN  ORERABEUBRS

F1TR2E] EAETRREEY

BASEAE%-
B sER

BEGMENEIR  REENBARYAI:

ZERT

i

BEEHENE IR MEREERDER?

pALH

ERUBREEN  EREOEESRE
F165 2B

ERMBREED  REAEEABZEARNN
FIORREAS ﬁ BERECHCEE

EHE

8521 HESTE?

W_E_=F—-A—-H=®ZKH
Wz FEHMAER
N-ZE_ME—A—- Ak 2K
Wz FEHMAER
ERBHBEFE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)
Basis of preparation (CONT’D)
(u) Future changes in HKFRSs (CONT'D)

The Group is in the process of making a detailed
assessment of the possible impact on the future adoption
of the new/revised HKFRSs. So far the management is of
the opinion that the adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs
will not have any significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors
have made the following judgements that have significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

(a) Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties measured at fair value, the directors have
reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolios and
concluded that the Group’s investment properties are held
under a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment properties over time, rather than through
sale. Therefore, in determining the Group’s deferred tax
for investment properties, the directors have rebutted the
presumption that investment properties measured at fair
value are recovered through sale.
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4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (CONT'D)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are discussed below.

(a) Impairment of trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables

The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance
for trade receivables, deposits and other receivables by
using various inputs and assumptions including risk of a
default and expected loss rate. The estimation involves
high degree of uncertainty which is based on the Group’s
historical information, existing market conditions as
well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period. Where the expectation is different from
the original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying amount of trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables. Details of the key assumptions and inputs
used in estimating ECL are set out in notes 6(b) and 20 to
the consolidated financial statements.

(b) Net realisable value of properties held for sale and
properties for sale under development

Net realisable value of properties held for sale is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less estimated costs to be incurred in selling the
properties. Net realisable value of properties for sale under
development is assessed with reference to valuations
carried out by an independent professional valuer,
based on estimated selling prices of the properties less
estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in
selling the properties. These estimates are based on the
current market condition and the historical experience
of constructing and selling properties of similar nature.
It could change significantly as a result of changes in
economy and demand of market. The Group will reassess
the estimates by the end of each reporting period.
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4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (CONT'D)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (CONT'D)

(0

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group assesses annually whether property, plant
and equipment have any indication of impairment, in
accordance with the relevant accounting policies. The
recoverable amounts of property, plant and equipment
have been determined based on value in use calculations.
These calculations require the use of judgement and
estimates on future operating cash flows and discount
rates applied. Where the actual cash flows are different
from the original estimate, a material change in the
amount of impairment may arise.

Fair values of investment properties

The Group appoints an independent professional valuer
to assess the fair values of the investment properties. The
valuation of the investment properties is performed using
the direct comparison method and/or income capitalisation
method, which requires adjustments to transaction price
of similar properties regarding differences in key valuation
attributes such as location, road, frontage, size of
property, etc. between the properties under appraisal and
the comparables and the estimation about future income
and discount rates, etc.
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4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY

ESTIMATES (CONT'D)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (CONT'D)
(e) Income taxes

No deferred tax asset was recognised in the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position in
relation to the Group’s estimated unused tax losses of
HK$65,165,000 (2022: HK$41,956,000) as at 31 March
2023 due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where
the actual future taxable profits generated are more or
less than expected, a material recognition or reversal of
deferred tax asset may arise, which would be recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which such a recognition
or reversal takes place.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders of the Company through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes the amounts due to immediate holding company and a
director, borrowings and bonds payable, disclosed in notes 24, 26
and 27 respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents, and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The
Group will balance its overall capital structure through new share
issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debts or
the redemption of existing debts.
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TEFZA=F—HIUFEE

BE—F

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks,

including foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on

the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise

potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The majority of the subsidiaries of the Company are
operated in the PRC and most of their transactions are
denominated in RMB. The exchange rate of RMB against
HK$ is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.
The Group did not have significant exposure to foreign
exchange risk arising from daily operating activities of the
subsidiaries because their main operations are conducted

in their functional currency.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to bank
balances and cash and trade and other receivables. The
carrying amount of these financial assets recognised on
the consolidated statement of financial position, which is
net of loss allowance, represents the Group’s maximum

exposure to credit risk.

Bank balances

The Group had limited credit risk on bank balances
because the counterparties are banks with high credit-
ratings assigned by national credit-rating institution. The
Group has not suffered any significant losses arising from
the non-performance by these parties in the past and
management do not expect this position to change in the
future.
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6.

—CEZHA=+—HILEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

(b)

Credit risk (CONT’D)
Trade receivables

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales are
made to customers with good credit history.

The Group normally grants its customers an average
credit period from 0 to 365 days (2022: 0 to 365 days).
In order to minimise the Group’s exposure to credit risk,
the directors have delegated a team being responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures. In addition, the directors review
the recoverable amount of each individual trade receivable
regularly to ensure that adequate loss allowance for
expected credit losses are recognised for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors consider that the
Group's credit risk on trade receivables is significantly
reduced.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s
concentration of credit risk by geographical locations is
mainly in the PRC. The trade debtors located in the PRC
accounted for 100% (2022: 100%) of the Group’s total
trade receivables as at 31 March 2023. The Group also
had concentration of credit risk by customers as 23%
(2022: 27%) and 50% (2022: 57%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer
and the five largest customers, respectively. In the opinion
of the directors, all five largest customers are customers
with good reputation and creditability.

The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating
ECL for trade receivables and recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date and has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment. The
details of the ECL for trade receivables using a provision
matrix is disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

(b)

Credit risk (CONT’D)
Other receivables

The Group considers that other receivables have low
credit risk based on the borrowers’ strong capability to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and low risk of default. Impairment on other receivables
is measured on 12-month ECL and reflects the short

maturities of the exposures.

In estimating the ECL, the Group has taken into account
the historical actual credit loss experience over the past
3 years (2022: 3 years) and the financial position of
the counterparties by reference to, among others, their
management or audited accounts and available press
information, adjusted for forward-looking factors that are
specific to the debtors and general economic conditions
of the industry in which the counterparties operate, in
estimating the probability of default of these financial
assets, as well as the loss upon default in each case. The
management of the Group considers the ECL of other
receivables to be insignificant after taking into account the
financial position and credit quality of the counterparties.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the year.
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6.

(o)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D) 6. BRERERER (&)
Liquidity risk () REBESER
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group REBERDECRRNS  NEEE
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash ERBHReERESEBYERFEE
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to BERAR/RURAEE Z2ERHER
finance the Group's operations and mitigate the effects of WECHIKT  TEHERERDR
fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the ERPrrE BEHEGEEEEZ
utilisation of borrowings. EAEMR -
The following table details the Group’s remaining TREFEAEEHcHRBEZFHE
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The table LFHEES - BHASIRIIBBENEE
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows AgEwERNR &R AHze
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which MBERUBREMEFE - TEH
the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both BHERASHERE -
interest and principal cash flows.
Repayable on Total
Effective demand or Between Between undiscounted
interest rate within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years cash flow
BEXRY AERRS
At 31 March 2023 RZB-Z§ZB=1-R ERAZ  MEREE 1225 2R 2E5E 2R RERH
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin TiEn TiEn Tin
Trade payables and accrued charges B SEMFUARE EA - 26,296 - - 26,29
Amount due to immediate holding ~ [EfF B R BB AGFE
company - 7,728 - - 7,728
Amount due to a director ER-—2ESHE - 86 - - 86
Borrowings (- 12% 21,933 - - 21,933
Bonds payable EfEH - 8,282 - - 8,282
Lease liabilities HEEE 6.5% 308 - - 308
64,633 - - 64,633
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D) 6. B BEBREE (&)

(c) Liquidity risk (CONT'D) (c) REBESERE (8)
Repayable on Total
Effective demand or Between Between undiscounted
interest rate within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years cash flow
REX, KRR &
At 31 March 2022 RZBZZ§=R=+-H ERAE  RMEREE 12262 R VEXA MELE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TR TATL TAn
Trade payables and accrued charges B SERFUBRE ER - 33,831 - - 33,831
Amount due to immediate holding B ERERAGEZE
company - 2,420 - - 2,420
Amount due to a director Ef-%E25E - 193 - - 193
Borrowings &E 12% 42,062 - - 42,062
Bonds payable RS 6-6.5% 12,106 - - 12,106
Lease liabilities REARE 6.5% 393 275 - 668
91,005 275 - 91,280
(d) Categories of financial instruments (d) EE T ENEHR
2023 2022
—E-=8 —ET-F
HK$°000 HK$'000
T FET
Financial assets: SRMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost (including $Z# 4k A58k 2 £ B A E
bank balances and cash) (BREFRTEHRERS) 12,229 42,849
Financial liabilities: TRIEME:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BREIEAAS Rz 2B EE 64,409 88,756
(e) Fair values (e) AFE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets rEEFEVBRARNEREE
and financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of rematEnRmEaE A aFERmE -

financial position approximate their fair values.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The following disclosures of
fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises
into three levels of inputs to valuation:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the
measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly

or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out

of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in
circumstances that caused the transfer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BB RME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

7.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONT’D)

(a)

Disclosures of fair value hierarchy:

7.

AFEME (8

(@) DFESEHREE:

Level 3 inputs

E=RWAEE

HK$'000
FTiER
At 31 March 2023 —E-=%=ZH=+—H
Investment properties wEMZH
Commercial — The PRC P — 20,059
Carparks — The PRC RES—FhE 15,772
35,831

Level 3 inputs

F=RBABE

HK$'000
FHET
At 31 March 2022 —E-—#=A=+—H
Investment properties wEMZ
Commercial — The PRC BE—F 21,854
Carparks — The PRC (=S —FE 34,310
56,164

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 fair
value measurements for the years ended 31 March 2023

and 2022.

HE-_ZT-_=-FR-_T-_—_F=A
Z+—HIEFERE— ZE=H2A
FEAEZMTERLEERE -
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e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-HA=+—HIFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONT’D) 7. AYEFEGE)
(b)  Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based (b) RBEF=HLOFESHUATES
on Level 3 fair value hierarchy: EEEYHER:
Investment properties
REYHE
2023 2022
—E-=F T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
At the beginning of the reporting period MRS ) 56,164 60,804
Loss on revaluation of investment properties &Y% 2 EfhE18 (16,157) (7,056)
Exchange realignment fEE o R 2 (4,176) 2,416
At the end of the reporting period REEBR 35,831 56,164
(0 Disclosure of valuation process and valuation (9] FERERBEFERBAZEEZ

techniques and inputs:

The Group’s financial controller is responsible for the fair
value measurements of assets and liabilities required for
financial reporting purposes, including Level 3 fair value
measurements. The financial controller reports directly to
the Board of Directors for these fair value measurements.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are held
between the financial controller and the Board of Directors
at least twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will
normally engage external valuation experts with
recognised professional qualifications and recent
experience to perform the valuation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONT'D)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process and valuation
techniques and inputs: (CONT’D)

7. QDVEREE)

(c)

Key unobservable inputs used in Level 3 fair value

measurements are as follows:

Level 3 fair value measurements

At 31 March 2023

RERBREETERBABEZ
®E: (&)
FE-MRATEFERMERZHER
T BRBABBAT :

E=RATENE

R-B-=f=B=+—H

Effect on fair

value for increase

Description HK$'000 Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range of inputs
BABBE
B3 TR HERE TABRRAAHE #E ANTEHE
Investment properties 35,831 Income method and direct Price per square RMB18,700to  Increase
comparison method meter RMB23,600
Rental hourly income RMB2/hourto  Increase
per unit RMB4/hour
Utilisation rate 45%-80%  Increase
RENF 35831 WAEREZLEE FRITRER ARHE18,7000T  HEI0
ES
AE23,6007T
BEUG/NFHESRA 5K Em
ARB27T
EHE
AR®4T
ER% 45%-80% 11
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-HA=+—HIFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONT'D)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process and valuation
techniques and inputs: (CONT’D)

Level 3 fair value measurements (CONT’D)

At 31 March 2022

7. DFREEEE)
(O fEERRRMEESEREABSES
BB ()
#=RATEMNE (F)

R-B-=-F=B=+—H

Effect on
fair value for

increase of
Description HK$'000 Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range  inputs
BABIE N
E3E] THEL HEHE EEESN ¢ #E AQVEYE
Investment properties 56,164 Income method and direct Price per square RMB18,800to  Increase
comparison method meter RMB22,000
Rental hourly income RMB2/hour to  Increase
per unit RMB4/hour
Utilisation rate 40%-80% Increase
REME 56,164 WANZEREBLEE FFKER ARM188007T  HEI0
ES
AE#22,0007T
SERFPERSUA SO0E
AEB27T
z
SUNS
AR%4T
S 40%-80% 7N
During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, there HEZZT-_=FK=-_FT=-=F=A8

were no changes in the valuation technigues used.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE—

8.

FoSEZASAUEE

REVENUE 8. W=
2023 2022
—E-=F —E -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiERT FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers within 288 5 # & ERIZE 155 #E A
HKFRS 15: KB EFERE W
Development and sale of properties MERERIEE 13,392 29,373
Properties management VEER 569 564
Operation and management of hydroelectric IKEULEEE IR
power stations 8,577 7,704
22,538 37,641
Revenue from other sources: H R 7 -
Rental income from operating leases LEREMSHHES KA
— Fixed lease payments —EEHENE 1,016 1,052
— Variable lease payments — A EHERIE 210 246
1,226 1,298
23,764 38,939
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-HA=+—HIFE

8. REVENUE (CONT'D)

In addition to the information shown in segment disclosures in
note 9 to the consolidated financial statements, the revenue from
contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 is disaggregated as

Wz (&)

g= A

% =]

SR LI Z D R E AR

BERSN BEVBRELERE15RHBER
KEEPAKHNNWELAT IS

follows:
Year ended 31 March 2023
BE-Z-=%=A=+-BLEFE
Operation and
Development management of
and sale of Properties  hydroelectric
propertiess  management power stations Total
MERBRHE MEEE KBUELERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERr TER TEx TET
Type of transaction price: REEBER :
At fixed price REEER 13,392 569 8,577 22,538
Timing of revenue recognition: Yoz BRI -
At a point in time P (R 13,392 - - 13,392
Over time RE(ERE - 569 8,577 9,146
13,392 569 8,577 22,538
Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-Z--F-RA=1+-RAIFE
Operation and
Development management
and sale of Properties  of hydroelectric
properties management  power stations Total
MERERHE NEER KEWELER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TET FTET FHET
Type of transaction price: REEBER :
At fixed price REFEER 29,373 564 7,704 37,641
Timing of revenue recognition: W AR -
At a point in time P JE (1 B 29,373 - - 29,373
Over time A FE AR B - 564 7,704 8,268
29,373 564 7,704 37,641
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,

being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of

resource allocation and assessment of segment performance

focuses on types of goods and services delivered by each

operating division.

The Group’s operating divisions are as follows:

(1)

(a)

Development and sale of properties (“Properties

development”)

Properties investment

Properties management

Operation and management of hydroelectric power

stations (“Hydroelectric power business”)

Segment revenue and results

SEER
SEANTHEEESBHRENELRRY
ZHEE DAAARRGES (HEBLE
REE)RE ARESEREARRTIESE
ey PR

AEBEZEEDEMT

) BERBREE(MERE])

—~
—

@) KBIEEER(KEXK])

() SEWERES

Year ended 31 March 2023

BE-ZE--F-A=1+-BLEE

Hydroelectric

Properties Properties Properties power
development  investment management business Total
YERE YHERE YHEEE KEEHR A5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHERT FET FHET FERT
Revenue Yoz 13,392 1,226 569 8,577 23,764
Segment results GRS (25,053) (18,369) 34 (288) (43,676)
Interest income FLEdA 15
Unallocated expenses AAERZ (3,550)
Finance costs FERHAR (3,954)
Loss before tax FR 75 A5 18 (51,165)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE—-F

9.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT'D)

(a)

(b)

—=F=A=+—HIFE

Segment revenue and results (CONT’D)

9.

ﬁﬁﬁﬂ (&)
(a) BWEREE (4

Year ended 31 March 2022
BE-T--FZA=+-HIFE

Hydroelectric
Properties Properties Properties power
development investment  management business Total
ERE WERE YEER  KEEH #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET FHET
Revenue Yz 29,373 1,298 564 7,704 38,939
Segment results A ES (6,189) (6,602) (139) 3,486 (9,444)
Interest income FEdA 25
Unallocated expenses AOERZ (4.,252)
Finance costs B AR (3,880)
Loss before tax B 75 A 5 18 (17,551)
Segment assets and liabilities b) HEEERESRE
At 31 March 2023
RZBZ=f=zZA=+-H
Hydroelectric
Properties Properties Properties power
development  investment management business Total
VESEEN MERE MEER KEEH @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TER TER TER TER
Assets BB
Segment assets NEAE 234,789 41,963 641 29,386 306,779
Unallocated corporate assets KA EATEE 450
Consolidated total assets BIBEE 307,229
Liabilities 8%
Segment liabilities NEBRE 20,697 10,138 991 1,917 33,743
Unallocated corporate liabilities K2 & A A& f& 41,719
Consolidated total liabilities &3f#AAE 75,462
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BB RME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT'D) 9. DEER(E)
(b)  Segment assets and liabilities (CONT'D) (b) SHEEEREE(H)
At 31 March 2022
R-_E-—F=ZfA=1+—H
Hydroelectric
Properties Properties Properties power
development investment  management business Total
MmERE MERE MEERE KEEH Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TR TAT THT THL
Assets BE
Segment assets DEEE 303,594 67,885 1,626 38,273 411,378
Unallocated corporate assets AP EAFEE 1,104
Consolidated total assets CHES -V 412,482
Liabilities &
Segment liabilities AHEER 31,543 7,902 1,131 1,942 42,518
Unallocated corporate liabilities KA B AR & (& 59,369
Consolidated total liabilities &3 A&& 101,887

Unallocated corporate assets mainly represent assets held

by head office and inactive subsidiaries.

Unallocated corporate liabilities mainly represent

amounts due to immediate holding company/a director,

borrowings, bonds payable and liabilities incurred by head

office and inactive subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-HA=+—HIFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D) 9. oHER(E)
(c) Other segment information (c) HibpEER

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-E--E-B=+-ALEE

Hydroelectric
Properties Properties Properties power Other
development  investment management business segment Total
NERE NERE NEER KEEHK Hin 8 b

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TER TER TER TER TER TER

Amounts incluced in the HASBREAE

measturement of segment EENEZHE

results or segment assets:
Additions of property, BENE - FE k&

plant and equipment 6 30 - 10 - 46
Depreciation of property, nx BERZENE

plant and equipment 4 23 - 2,719 - 3,146
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ FFAEEENE

assets - - - - 362 362
Loss on revaluation of RENZ 7 EMfER

investment properties - 16,157 - - - 16,157
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BB RME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT'D) 9. DEEHR (&)
(3] Other segment information (CONT’D) (9] Hivn BEH (&)
Year ended 31 March 2022
BE-Z-_F-A=1-BLFE
Hydroelectric
Properties Properties Properties power Other
development investment  management business segment Total
nERE nERE NEER KEEHK Ll @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL
Amounts inclucled in the BASEREATEEE
measurement of segment SEIHE:
results or segment assets:
Additions of property, plant and ¥ « BE Rk
equipment - 24 - - - 24
Additions of right-of-use assets  #7i2{ FIEEEE - - - - 724 724
Depreciation of property, 0% BERLENE
plant and equipment 5 452 - 2,875 - 3332
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ FREEENE
assets - - - - 1,032 1,032
Loss on revaluation of RENE 7 ERER
investment properties - 7,056 - - - 7,056
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-HA=+—HIFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D) 9. ZEEH (&)
(d) Geographical segments (d) WESHE
The Group’s revenue from external customers (based on REEREINSEP 2w (REP
location of customers) and information about its non- et R) RERMASERES EEE R
current assets by geographical location of the assets are (REEMEME) ZFFB0T -

detailed below:

Revenue from external customers RENBEFE 2 H
2023 2022
—E2-= —F-—
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
The PRC F 23,764 38,939
Non-current assets IRBEE
2023 2022
—E-= -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Hong Kong e 272 634
The PRC F 67,593 95,231
67,865 95,865
(e) Information about major customers (e) FEEFEH
Revenue from customers contributing 10% or more of the HAEBBKZI0% XA EZES
total revenue of the Group is as follows: WS H T
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Customer A (Hydroelectric power business) &P A (7K E %#7) 8,577 7,704
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mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE—

11.

PSSt HLEE

10. OTHER GAIN AND LOSS 10. HftlhsmREE
2023 2022
—E-=8 SR =
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Interest income F B U A 15 25
Others Hpth 106 73
121 98
FINANCE COSTS 1. BB
2023 2022
—E2-= —E-_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Interest expenses on: NTEEBEZMEME
— borrowings BB 3,551 3,142
— bonds payable — &S 373 705
— lease liabilities —HEaE 30 33
3,954 3,880
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-HA=+—HIFE

12. LOSS BEFORE TAX 12. BRBIATEE
This is stated after charging: RIBUATEIEEZS
2023 2022
R =F —Eq-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration): B T A (BEEHEE)
— Wages and salaries - ITERF® 1,601 1,348
— Contribution to defined contribution schemes — E 2Bt 21 7 3% 350 199
1,951 1,547
Other items: HibEE -
Auditors’ remuneration AN & 840 800
Cost of inventories sold HEFERARN 12,204 27,033
Depreciation LWTEBEZINE
— Property, plant and equipment —M%E - BB REE 3,146 3,332
— Right-of-use assets —EAEEE 362 1,032
Legal and professional fee FEEREFEER 1,351 971
Marketing and promotion expenses B RERERS 10,150 5,451
Repairs and maintenance IS R HEE
— Anti-epidemic facilities — LR 7,830 -
— Environmental afforestation —IRIBEM 2,934 -
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e M BB RME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors and chief executive

13. EENTERESHFHMALIENS

() EERFETHAER

Year ended 31 March 2023
BE-E-CEZP=+-ALEE

Salaries and Contribution
other short-term to defined
employee  Discretionary  contribution
Fees benefits bonus schemes Total
#2R
B TR
e EEEH Bt HENEE &5
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 Tin Tin TERL TERL TR
Executive directors: ELEES
Wang Jing 15 {i - 216 - - 216
Wang Xing Qiao 2% fi) - 316 - 3 339
Zhao Shuang b - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors. ~ BUFHTES
Zeng Guanwei gra 100 - - - 100
SuBo £ 100 - - - 100
Tang Shengzhi AR 100 - - - 100
300 532 - 3 855
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-HA=+—HIFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 13. EERTEESHFMALHE
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONT’D) (&)
(a) Directors and chief executive (CONT’D) (a) EERFETHAEE)
Year ended 31 March 2022
BE-E-_E-RTH-RLEE
Salaries and Contribution
other short-term to defined

employee Discretionary contribution

Fees benefits bonus schemes Total
EeR
e TRET
ik EEET BETA HE [ 2%
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 Tin Tn Tin Tn Tn
Executive directors: #igEs:
Wang Jing I& (i - 216 - 15 231
Wang Xing Qiao 2% i - 216 - 15 231
Zhao Shuang B - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors.  BUFHTES
Zeng Guanwei gra 100 - - - 100
SuBo & 100 - - - 100
Tang Shengzhi iR 100 - - - 100
30 5 - 3 72
Notes: PaE -
(i) Mr. Wang Jing is the chairman of the Board of Directors (i) FREEREFERTE
(i) Mr. Wang Xing Qiao is the chief executive officer of the (ii) TESREAERRRITHER

Company
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e M BB RME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONT’D)

(a)

(b)

Directors and chief executive (CONT’D)

No performance related incentive payments and
emoluments in respect of directors’ other services in
common with the management of the Company or its
subsidiaries were paid or payable to the directors of the
Company for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

The executive directors’ emoluments were mainly for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group. The emoluments of the
independent non-executive directors were mainly for their
services as directors of the Company.

None of the directors waived any emoluments during the
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

No emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to any
of the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included the
following:

13. EENTERESHFHMALIENS

(&)
(a)

(b)

BEERFETHAR (E)
HE-_ZT-_=FK=-T-_—_F=H
=+t—RIEFE BEREEARQF
FHEMBAREBE 2 AMESRE
MR B E E Xk E A 48 2
REMI R RS -

HITEEFMNEIZAREEELR
ARAREEHMEHRBOME -
BYBTESTFHEIZARER
RARPEZMREEREHME -

HE-_ZT-_-"FR-_T-__F=H
=t+—HIEFE  BEEEHRELSM
B o

AEBEGEAEMNESENHEN
B (EREEMARMARERER
Z BERDRBERL A1 o

EERESHFMAL
AEEREESHFMALTEEAT
AL

2023 2022

—E2-= —E -
Director (note) FE (W) 4 4
Non-director individual JEEEMEA 1 1
5 5

Note: Three directors received the same amount of
renumeration during the years ended 31 March 2023
and 2022 who were ranked as the fourth highest
paid individuals of the Group. Only two of these
three directors were listed in the above 5 highest paid

individual information.

Mzt : —ZREBFREE_ZT_=—FR=
T--_F=-A=+—HILFEE
BREZSENTH AXEEE
MEFMEA Z=REEFR
EMBHA Ll AR HEFMA
TEH -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-HA=+—HIFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 13. EERTEEEFMALTHE
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONT’D) (&)
(b)  Five highest paid individuals (CONT'D) (b) EEESHFMALE)
The details of the above directors’ remuneration are set FTRESNHFMFEINES MB
out in note 13(a) to the consolidated financial statements. WEMF13@ - AT —R(ZE==
The emoluments of the remaining one (2022: one) highest F:—F)BauEENHSIT

paid employee are as follows:

2023 2022
—E-= —E-
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Salaries and other short-term employee e kAR HESET
benefits 216 216
Contribution to defined contribution TERB M KA EIER R
schemes 23 15
239 231
Emoluments of this employee were within the following HEEMe 2 BBENT
bands:
Number of employees
EBEAH
2023 2022
—E-= —EF-—
Emolument bands: e :
Nil-HK$ 1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 % T 1 1
No emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to AEEHERENAERSHMA
any of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement TRNENTM - EREZMAK
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation MAREE & 2 REN BB AHE -
for loss of office. None of these individuals waived any BHE-ZE-_=FfK-_FT-_F=A1
emoluments during the years ended 31 March 2023 and =T—HIEFE  $EALHEEM
2022. e o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRMTE
For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE
14. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 14. FiiEBiRAxX
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2022:16.5%) of the ERBNETIAREE 2 (5t R R
estimated assessable profits for the year. No provision for Hong E165% (ZEZ_F : 165% )it E - AR
Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group has no assessable REERBE_T_=FR=-_T=-__F=H
profits derived from Hong Kong for the years ended 31 March =+ —AIEFEEEB W EEEFMERT
2023 and 2022. A - T R Y E S R s BB NS B AT IR
B -
The PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") in respect of operations ERATEAMERES 2FEH JJ:%P)’T o
in Mainland China is calculated at a rate 25% (2022: 25%) on (TEZEMERD DIREBETEN 2B RE
the estimated assessable profits for the year based on existing BE DIt AN E A ET E R Bl ﬂh@% <25%
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof. (ZE - —F 1 25%):t& -
LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on T IR ER G L IS ERREN E30% E
the appreciation of land value. 60% Uy °
2023 2022
—E-= —E-
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
EIT EEMEH
Current year REEZ 31 56
Underprovision in prior year WMAFEREBTE 14 -
45 56
Reconciliation of tax expenses BIERAZ IR
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Loss before tax FRE A& B (51,165) (17,551)
Tax calculated at the domestic tax rate of 16.5% AT R 16.5% (— T = —
(2022: 16.5%) 16.5%) 5t H 2 IR (8,442) (2,896)
Non-deductible expenses AT 0 B <2 3,924 1,393
Tax exempt revenue f)“ﬁlﬁﬂi%@%qﬁl¥ (71) (166)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMRERELE 2
operating in other jurisdictions MERRTRBE & (2,019) (425)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERREEBE BB E 6,698 2,960
Tax effect of temporary difference not recognised KR E IS =58 » B i5 52 & 22 24
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised &) F %t Bl AR iR 2 T TE &5 18 (9) (22)
Underprovision in prior year BAFEREBTTE 14 -
Others HAth (72) (812)
45 56
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15. DIVIDENDS

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of
any dividend for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

16. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share of the
Company is based on the following data:

15.

16.

e
AABREETERRBE_TE_=FK =%
T oFZ AT BLEFERMEAKRE -

BRER

AR R A R BT RS T RS
e

2023 2022
—E-= —EF-—
HK$"000 HK$'000
FERT FHBT
Loss for the year FEBRE (51,210) (17,607)

Number of shares
B EE
2023 2022
—EZ=HF =S

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for ARt EFRER M EEEIE

the basic and diluted loss per share Nt EERE A 212,839,878 212,839,878
2023 2022
—EZ=HF g
HK cents HK cents
Bl A
Loss per share: BREE
Basic and diluted EAREE (24.06) (8.27)

Diluted loss per share is same as the basic loss per share for the
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. The Company did not
have any dilutive potential ordinary shares during the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. REWZE
HK$'000
FHBT
AT FAIR VALUE BRAFE

At 1 April 2021 RZEZ—FMWA—H 60,804
Loss on revaluation of investment properties KEMEZ EfLEE (7,056)
Exchange realignment b 3 5 B 2,416

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZZTEZZF=A=+—8HK
- _FmMA—H 56,164
Loss on revaluation of investment properties WEME EfLEIR (16,157)
Exchange realignment b 2 5 B (4,176)
At 31 March 2023 RZE-_=F=A=+—H 35,831

The investment properties represent the commercial properties
and carparks held by the Group for rental purpose. These
properties are situated in (i) Zhangian, Pingshan District, Benxi
City, Liaoning Province, the PRC; (ii) Weisheng Qu, Mingshan
District, Benxi City, Liaoning Province, the PRC; and (iii) Guangyu
Road, Pingshan District, Benxi City, Liaoning Province, the PRC.

The fair values of the investment properties had been arrived at
on the basis of valuations carried out by & 2 & = 5 #h & + it
AEMGEAERQA ("EESTF"), an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected to the Group. The valuations
were arrived at by reference to recent market prices or market
rents for similar properties in similar locations and conditions. The
details of valuation techniques and inputs used in the valuations
are disclosed in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

RAMEEAEERERLERRNELEY
$REHIE  FENELROTREEL A
ST IEAT ¢ ()RR E L AE T
B AR R i) b B A AR T T L
KR -

BREMENRFEDRBEEESTHRMEL
WEEMNGEARAR (BEEETF)) (BAL
EEBANELAERBEEMGEN) ETHOM
EMETE - HEHSEZELE RIEFNE
UmEr I mExmSHeMEE - A E
TERGEMRBABENFBEEREAY
TEIRRMIFL7 BEE -
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EE—

17.

Eo=F=A=+—HIFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONT'D)

At the end of the reporting period, the investment properties
were revalued by # % ¢ F on the market value basis using
direct comparison approach for commercial properties and the
income capitalisation approach based on the capitalisation of unit
market rental income of comparable properties, net of estimated
development costs, in similar locations and conditions, for carparks
respectively. The fair values of the investment properties were
HK$35,831,000 (2022: HK$56,164,000) in aggregate, resulting
in loss on revaluation of investment properties of HK$16,157,000
(2022: HK$7,056,000) recognised in profit or loss during the year.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group pledged commercial
properties of HK$20,059,000 (2022: HK$21,854,000) to secure
the borrowings granted to the Group. As at 31 March 2023, the
investment properties were situated on lands in the PRC with
remaining lease term ranging from 13 to 33 years (2022: 14 to 34

years).

Commitments under operating leases — as lessor

In addition to the carparks on which rental is charged on an hourly
basis, the Group also leases out certain of its investment properties
to third parties under operating leases with lease terms of 20
years (2022: 20 years). Monthly rental charges consist of variable
payments that are based on a percentage of sales of the tenants.
The terms of the leases also require the tenants to pay security

deposits according to the then prevailing market conditions.
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REWE (&)

RBERR  REVEHEZTSFREME
E2ERAEELEE(EAYMEmS) R
BRI B AR AT L ) B 5
SWABER(bE (B EETHEAA) FA
ANBRCT % (BEESEMmE) #TEM - 1%
BEMET A FES H 535,831,000 T (=
T 156,164,000/ L) F EHRF R
B PR 16,157,000 T (Z T ==
7,056,0007/87T) 2 IR E Y E E L EIE -

RBmEBR AEEBERBEDE
20,059,000% 7t (=& = =4 : 21,854,000
BT)UERRETFASENEBEE N2
ZZFZA=+—8 -  BREVEMAPEL
THARKBEAN TR =2=1+=F (=
T FFONE=1EE) -

REHETHWAE -EAHHAA
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18. V¥ BENRRE

Hydroelectric
power stations Furniture,
Motor Leasehold andrelated  fixtures and Plant and
vehicles  improvement  infrastructure equipment machinery Total
FRf
KEUR EE£E
RE BENERE  ABERRE k&%  HEREE a3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR
Cost R
At 1 April 2021 RZEZ-FNA-A 903 4,737 41,695 853 11,060 59,248
Additions HE - - - 24 2
Written off bz - - - (705) - (705)
Exchange realignment EXEE 37 19 2173 - 641 3,047
At31March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R-E-—FZA=+-HkK
“E--EMNA-H 940 4,933 43,868 148 11,725 61,614
Additions RNE - - - - 46 46
Exchange realignment EXE (69) (361) (4,162) - (1,027) (5,619)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=fA=t+-H 871 4572 39,706 148 10,744 56,041
Accumulated depreciation and ZHRERAE
impairment
AT April 2021 W-E--%NE-H 457 %7 13450 853 3,57 19,234
Provided during the year TEERE 203 13 2,143 JZE! 3332
Witten off s - - - (705) - (705)
Exchange realignment Exgg 2 K 465 - 156 686
At31 March2022and 1 April 2022 RZZZZF=A=+-HRk
St Ed=! 682 1,233 16,058 148 4,426 22,547
Provided during the year rEERE 190 28 2,032 - 696 3,146
Exchange realignment ExHE (49) (89) (954) - (322) (1,414)
At 31 March 2023 “ECZEZR=1-H 823 1,372 17,136 148 4,800 24,279
Carrying amount REE
At 31 March 2023 AZE2-=F=B=1-A 43 3,200 22,570 - 5,944 31,762
At 31 March 2022 RZZ--%#=A=1+-H 258 3,700 27,810 - 7,299 39,067
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES

The movements of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are as

follows:

Year ended 31 March 2023:

19. EREEE HEAE

EREEENMEERBEZEHNT

3

ES

—E_=F=A=+—HLEFE:

Office premises

e D15 P
Right-of-use Lease
assets liabilities
ERAREEE HEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
At the beginning of the reporting period & B ) 634 (631)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TRAEEERE (362) -
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEAEMNFEMEZ - (30)
Lease payments HER® - 360
At the end of the reporting period RIREHR 272 (301)
Current portion BN EE6 5 (301)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES

(CONT'D)
Year ended 31 March 2022:

19. EREEE HERE (H)

BE-_ZT-_—_F=A=+—HILtFE:

Office premises

NG )

Right-of-use Lease

assets liabilities

EREEE HEBE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHBT FET
At the beginning of the reporting period R & B9 942 (1,205)
Additions NE 724 (724)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets REEENE (1,032) -
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEEBENMERX - (33)
Lease payments HER® - 1,331
At the end of the reporting period RIEHR 634 (631)
Current portion BN ERER (363)
Non-current portion JEBNHEREL (268)
(631)

The Group as lessee

The Group leased office premises in Hong Kong for its daily

operations for a term of two years (2022: two years) with fixed

lease payments. The lease of office premises imposes a restriction

that, unless approval is obtained from the lessor, the right-of-use

asset can only be used by the Group and the Group is prohibited

from selling or pledging the underlying assets. In addition, the

Group is also required to keep those properties in a good state of

repair and return the properties in their original condition at the

end of the lease.

REBEREBAA

AEBRHAEEZUETHENRRES
HEMRRGH  RHMFE (CTE_—_F W
F) - HEMRDSAIT BRG] - B IFE
MA#E TRERBEEENHASEE
AR AREEHESEREEEE - 15
RE B IR EN %S WERT RIFEEMR
WABEERFRREARRNZEZEYE
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES 19.
(CONT'D)

The Group as lessee (CONT’'D)

The Group has recognised the following amounts for the year:

EREEE HERE (H)

REBER/EAA (H)

AREENFRNEHRAATSRE

2023 2022
—_E-= —E-—
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Total cash outflow for leases HERS LB 360 1,331

Commitments under operating leases

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had no commitment for short-
term leases (2022: Nil).

REHEERE

RZZE-_=F=ZA=+—0 ' A&EBETER

HHEEAE(ZE_F &) -

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 20 ESRWFEIR  RERHME
OTHER RECEIVABLES Wy =R I
2023 2022
—EZ-= —E-
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
P aE FET FHET
Trade receivables B 5 EWRIE () 6,556 5,867
Prepayments for properties for sale under 2% /3 & ¥ ¥ F8 1+ 718
development 6,858 7,400
Prepayments for anti-epidemic facilities ~ H1/& 5% e & IR SR MR TE (- 70 IB
and environmental afforestation - 8,633
Prepayments for advertising and & I HE B B 2 TR A 3B
promotion expenses - 7,400
Prepayments for maintenance work of ~ KEURIEEWEEETE
a hydroelectric power station and TR FIE
investment properties - 3,453
Deposit for setting up a subsidiary BUM B AR (b) - 18,500
Prepayments TEfT IR 376 691
Other tax receivables Hh fE U 18 8,620 8,926
Deposits and other receivables & I H b fE W FKIA 1,477 5,809
23,887 66,679
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20.

TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT’D)

Notes:

(a

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of loss allowance,
based on invoice dates which approximate the respective
recognition dates, at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

200 BEZEWFRIE REREME
kA ()

BEE

(a

2023 2022

—E= —E-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

0-30 days 0%30H 542 1,214
31-60 days 31F60H 12 6
61-90 days 61290H 267 8
Over 90 days %90 H 5,735 4,639
6,556 5,867

The Group allows an average credit period ranging from 0 to 365
days (2022: 0 to 365 days) to its trade customers. Before accepting
any new customers, the management assesses the credit quality
of the potential customers and determine appropriate credit
limits. Management closely monitors the credit quality of trade
receivables and considers the trade receivables that are neither
past due nor impaired to be of good quality.

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to
provide for ECL using the lifetime expected loss provision for trade
receivables. To measure ECL, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and past due days
adjusted for forward looking information.

AEBHRTHESEEZFHEEHNT
03650 (T - -4 :0%365H) °
MEMFEEZA  BEEFNHEERF
WEEEE VETBHENEEEE -F
BEZRENEHERFENEELS
RARBEANKRBENE 5 ERIBENHE
BEEERH-

AEEEBEBYBHREENFIR ZH
L7 EBE 5 B RR A 2 MR A 1R
BEHREMEREEERE - RITERY
EEER EZRUFHBRAREERER
e AR N s ) A By R AR R AT RE 1 A R
HEITHE
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 20. BEFRWREIE RERHME
OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT’D) Wk (4)
Notes: (CONT'D) BsE : ()
(a) (CONTD) (a (&)
Over
1year but
Less than 31-60 61-90 91-180  181days-  lessthan Over
30 days days days days 1year 2 years 2 years
Current  pastdue  pastdue  pastdue  pastdue  pastdue  pastdue  pastdue Total
fatd
ki fakd fakd fatd aH  EEE k]
U8 30KRm 31Z60X 61E0X 9NE180K BIRE1E BIRE  @EE @t
At 31 March 2023 RZBZ=#=Z8=+-H
Weighted average expected lossrate M T BAFER 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Receivable amount (HKS'000) RUHESE (T 1027 1,049 317 10 13% 198 850 1,709 6,556
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BEEE(TED) - - - - - - - - -
Over
1 year but
Less than 31-60 61-90 91-180  181days-  lessthan Over
30 days days days days 1 year 2 years 2 years
Current  pastdue  pastdue  pastdue  pastdue  pastdue  pastdue pastdue Total
RE  30KM 31EOX  61Z0K 9EI0K BIREIE EIE ERE it
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZ£=A=1-H
Weighted average expected lossrate ~ MiE TS BAEAER 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Receivable amount (HK$'000) EURELE(TETL) 3163 Q 6 8 66 578 1,763 241 5,867

Loss allowance (HK$'000) EERE(TED) - -

As at 31 March 2022, the amount represented a refundable
deposit paid to a third party in relation to a potential investment
in a property development project in the PRC. No binding or
definitive agreements in relation to the investment have been
entered into and the deposit was refunded in July 2022.
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BE—

21.

22,

PSSt HLEE

PROPERTIES FOR SALE UNDER 21. BRIPSEYHE
DEVELOPMENT
2023 2022
—ED=F o —
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Properties for sale under development BRYFEWE 112,169 118,997
Expected to be completed and available for sale: J&zt3% TIF 3 & :
— Within one year ——%R 97,224 102,871
— After one year ——Fi& 14,945 16,126
112,169 118,997
All properties for sale under development are located in the PRC. FRB#RPEFEEMEDLNPE -
Properties for sale under development of HK$14,945,000 as NZE-=F=A=+—H BERTHED
at 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$16,126,000) were pledged to % 14,945,0008 7 (ZE = =4 : 16,126,000
secure banking facility with an aggregate principal amount of BT BEBEAUNERETE=ZSTASEEL
approximately HK$27,145,000 (2022: HK$29,291,000) granted to 27,145,000 7T (=& = = : 29,291,000
third parties. BIL) ZIRITRLE ©
PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 22. HEHEZYX
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Properties held for sale BIEREZME 99,112 118,268
Expected to be sold: TEHIHERME -
— Within one year ——%NR 99,112 118,268

All properties held for sale are located in the PRC.

FIBARELE 2 MEBUNPEEA -

“ECC=EER PEHEELEEARLIFA 161



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-—F-_=—F=-HA=+—HIFE

23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The movements (excluding those arising from increases and
decreases both occurred within the same year) of contract
liabilities from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 during
the year are as follows:

23.

BREE
FRAEEMBRELENEISHAEEBATP
AHELZENBEEZY (HRFERNEE
MERADEE 2 BBBRIN AT

2023 2022

—EZ=F =~
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
At the beginning of the reporting period & B ) 6,840 7,433
Recognised as revenue R AW (3,276) (5,601)
Receipt of advances or recognition of receivables U ZI) 4 2k 5k #E 32 & W 7L 1A 2,689 4,809
Exchange difference P& H =58 (504) 199
At the end of the reporting period R EER 5,749 6,840

All the performance obligations that are unsatisfied as at 31 March
2023 are part of contracts that have an original expected duration
of one year or less. Given that the Group applies the practical
expedient in paragraph 121(a) of HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to these performance obligations is not disclosed.

24. AMOUNTS DUE TO A DIRECTOR/
IMMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY

The amounts due are interest-free, unsecured and repayable on
demand.
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BE—_F_—F=FA=+—HIFE

25. TRADE PAYABLES AND ACCRUED

25. BEERANRERETER

CHARGES
2023 2022
—ED=F o —
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
h=s FExT FHET
Trade payables 2 5 e /18 (a) 7,790 8,825
Consideration payable JERRE (b) o 7,753
Other creditors H BRI @) 6,386 5,957
Interest payable JETF B 8,469 7,231
Accrued expenses FERTF X 3,651 4,065
26,296 33,831
Notes: B aE -
(a) The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice dates at (a) RBEARLZEZARZIN 2B I EMNK
the end of the reporting period is as follows: HZBRRSTAT -
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E - F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAERT FAET
61-90 days 61290H - 493
Over 90 days Hi#®90 H 7,790 8,332
7,790 8,825
The average credit period is 90 days (2022: 90 days) and certain FHEEBHAIOR (ZTZZF : 90X)
suppliers grant longer credit period on a case-by-case basis. BETHENREREEETEREER -
(b) As at 31 March 2022, the balance represented the remaining (b) RIE_Z_F=A=+—H " &#&rERLK

consideration payable to Ministry of Natural Resources of the
People’s Republic of China and State Taxation Administration for
the acquisition of properties for sale under development. The
amount was settled in August 2022.

Included in the other creditors were the payables of HK$2,380,000
(2022: HK$2,172,000) to customers under invoicing process as at
the end of the year. The amount is unsecured, interest-free and
has no fixed repayment term.

BERTMESTRERNPEARLN
EEAERBREARMBERZHKIE - Z
REENRZ_ZE__FN\ALE-

HtEMEEBENFRBREERTE
& F3/1E2,380,0008 L (ZE ==
2,172,000 7T) - ZHIBREERF 28
B30 [ e 38 SR AR o
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26. BORROWINGS 26. &€

2023 2022
—E-=F -
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Other borrowings, secured HihfEE - iR 21,716 23,433
Other borrowings, unsecured HibEE  MmEHR - 16,748
21,716 40,181

The borrowings are repayable as follows: BEEENT
2023 2022
—E-=F T
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHBT
Within one year —FR 21,716 40,181
Included in borrowings of HK$21,716,000 (2022: HK$23,433,000) RZZE_=F=A=+—RH (EEEHE
as at 31 March 2023 are interest-bearing at 12% per annum, 21,716,000% 7t (=& = =4 : 23,433,000
secured by investment properties of HK$20,059,000 (2022: BIL) REMEI2EFE  REEWE

o

HK$21,854,000) and repayable on 2 May 2023 (2022: 2 May 2

71

7T

,059,00078 7T (=& — — £ : 21,854,000
2022). The borrowings are extended for one year to 2 May 2024 7T

VIEER WER-_Z-_=FHA_H

o

with all other terms remain unchanged on 2 May 2023. (:Z\__ T ZEZFRAZH)EE-
RZTEZ=FHAZH BELE—FE2=
TOMNFERAAZR A EMGETRERTE o
The remaining borrowings as at 31 March 2022 were interest- R ZF=A=+—HNEREERF
bearing at 12% per annum, unsecured and repaid during the year MENEFE EEHANREE T =
ended 31 March 2023. FZA=T—RHILFEEEE-
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27. BONDS PAYABLE 27. EfESF
2023 2022
—EC=F == —
HK$'000 HK$'000
TiET FHBT
Corporate bonds NGINEESS
Current liabilities mEaE 8,282 11,500

As at 31 March 2023, the Company had corporate bonds with
principal amount of HK$8,282,000 (2022: HK$11,500,000)
issued under the placing agreement dated 13 November 2018
for bonds issuance with an aggregate principal amount of up to
HK$200,000,000 (the “Placing Agreement”).

The bonds carry fixed interest rates ranging from 6% to 6.5% per
annum. The bonds are with a maturity period ranging from three
to five years from the issue date, and the interests are paid semi-
annually in arrears on 30 June and 31 December in each year and
on the maturity date.

On 4 November 2022, the Company received a winding-up
petition (the “Petition”), which was filed against the Company
on 28 October 2022 at the High Court of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (the “High Court”) by holders
(the "Petitioner”) of bonds in an aggregate principal amount
of HK$3,000,000 (the “Bonds”) issued by the Company for
the winding up of the Company under the provisions of the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance
(Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Company has fully
settled the outstanding amount due to the Petitioner and the
Company and the Petitioner have signed and filed a consent
summons to the High Court on 24 February 2023 to withdraw the
Petition. The Company received a court order from the High Court
dated 7 March 2023, which ordered, among other things, that
the Petition be withdrawn. Please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 4 November 2022, 10 November 2022, 11
January 2023, 22 February 2023, 8 March 2023 and 20 March
2023 for further details.

RZBEZ=F=ZA=+—8 ' ARaIREA
HAEZZ-)\F+—A+=-HZEEHzE (RN
BB MEITARE 8% %5 4200,000,000 4
T2 EH) BITA SR A8,282,000% T (=
T =4 :11,500,000/470) 2 A RIESH ([
Szl -

BENEEFHNENF6EE6S5E - 5
EmBAR BB ETRMRF =E0F  AF
BAGHFXN—KREIEFRA=TARK

TZA=ZT—RA)EREIBB XA -

RZZEZZF+—AWHE  AAREER=
T F T AT N\BREAFRITRES
LxElk ((BEER) REHEARAZE
BEF(ZE2F]D - ZE2FEBHRRBMET
N 48 %8 /53,000,000 L2 EH ([1EH])
ZRHBEANTZ2FADEL  EERBEBE
Pl 32E (A E OB RAMEIBEE SO BAI1) H
B3 BARRRNER - ARRIE BB EE
NEFANAINRIE  MARFEZFA
ERZEZ=F_A+NAEETNSE
FE R XA EERELBIEZERE - KA R
ﬂ@ﬁiiﬁ%ﬁza%ﬁfg:—izﬂ
+tHZES B (HPBE) BHEZEHE -
BABAARARAT_—_F+— AN
B ZZ-—F+—A+H ZT==%F—
A+—B -ZEZ=%-A=+=H =%
T=HF=ZANAERZZTZ=F=A=THH
NECATRESZFE -
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BE-F-=FE=A=+—AIFE
27. BONDS PAYABLE (CONT'D)

28.

On 10 November 2022, the Company received writs of summons
with statements of claims from certain bond holders for certain
outstanding principal and interest payables. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 11 November 2022 for
details. The Company has reached settlements agreements
with these bond holders for extension of the repayment of the
outstanding amounts by instalments by December 2023. The
outstanding balance as at 31 March 2023 was interest-free and
repayable in accordance with the repayment schedule pursuant to
the aforesaid settlement agreements.

As at 31 March 2023, bonds payable amounting to HK$6,460,000
(2022: nil) was guaranteed by a director of the Company.

DEFERRED TAXATION

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has not recognised deferred
tax assets in respect of tax losses of HK$65,165,000 (2022:
HK$41,956,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. HK$39,276,000 (2022: HK$19,996,000) of the unused
tax losses will expire within 5 years and the remaining unused tax
losses of HK$25,889,000 (2022: HK$21,960,000) may be carried
forward indefinitely:

27.

28.

FE & 2 ()

RZZBEZZF+—A+8  xAarkEHs
EERFEARETREERNTEAS RF S5
PrEALRERBRRLE - FLHAR
AAMA-T-_—F+—A+—HMQE
INTBHE - ARRERR =T =Z=F1+=
ARIAD B 515 S BB B R EE s E e
ZEEHFFEANERMERHE R T ==
F=A=1+— HM%“%%%%%%&ME
BRI R IR RS RER -

R-ZTE-_=F=fF=+—H %5
6,460,000 L (Z T - —F : &) WEFE
ETVRADR —REFRMEER-

EEHIE
RZTEZ=F=ZA=+—H BEREKER
FI SRR A AT TR R - A 5= B 30 R kB IE B 1B
65,165,000/ 7t (ZF = Z—4F : 41,956,000
7T MR T 1A B B © 39,276,000 % 7T
(ZZ = =4 :19,996,00087T) 2 A BB
TEE B R 5E A2 H - [ 25,889,000/% 7T
(ZZ = =4 :21,960,0008 7T) 2 F&r K &
AR IE R 1k & MR B4t

2023 2022

—E-= i
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAET

Year of expiry S| HRE D

2023 —E_=%F - 3,624
2024 —EDNEF 2,319 2,512
2025 —E-RF 4,898 5,305
2026 —ECREF 7,898 8,555
2027 —T-tHF 24,161 =
39,276 19,996
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28.

29.

PSSt HLEE

DEFERRED TAXATION (CONT’D) 28. EZEHIE ()
The profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 FERERBARTEZZEN\F—A— AR
onwards would be subject to withholding tax if they are B FIE - T B EEMRTEHIN - &
distributed. In the opinion of the directors, all undistributed profits EREB AR EFNBHFREBRF
are expected to be retained in the PRC subsidiaries and not to be MELF  ERAIRRKTEELFRE -
remitted out of the PRC in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, gt WEBRERIBELEE RZT ==
no provision for deferred tax has been made. As at 31 March F=ZA=+—H " FEWBAGDRNNREA
2023, retained profits earned by PRC subsidiaries amounted to EAMKATATT (ZE =25 : 948,600,000
approximately HK$Nil (2022: approximately HK$8,600,000). PETT) o
SHARE CAPITAL 29. X
2023 2022
—=== —E=-=
Number Number
of shares Amount of shares Amount
RHEE ot} k&R S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary shares of SR EE.01B T
HK$0.01 each -3l 50,000,000,000 500,000 50,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: B#ITRHZ :
At the beginning and end FA¥RE HI I R HA K -
of the reporting period Bt & AZE{E0.01
for ordinary shares of BTz LR E
HK$0.01 each 212,839,878 2,128 212,839,878 2,128
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30. RESERVES
(a) The Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements

therein are presented in the consolidated statement of

changes in equity.

30. &

(a)

AKH

AEBEOHEREEBSELIIR
LARRBBE -

(b) The Company (b) ¥/
The amounts of the Company’s reserves and the RRABINHERESHSEMNT
movements therein are as follows:
Capital
Share  redemption  Contributed ~Accumulated
premium reserve surplus losses Total
EXER
R EE i BB Z2HER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx FER TEx TER FER
At 1 April 2021 R-ZE-_—FWA—H 394,379 577,204 139,612 (820,963) 290,232
Loss and other comprehensive ~ RFEEE K
loss for the year HEp2EER - - - (4,974) (4,974)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April  RZTZZ%=A
2022 s el =
ZE--FWA—H 394,379 577,204 139,612 (825,937) 285,258
Loss and other comprehensive ~ AEEE 1B R
loss for the year Ht2HER - - - (63,944) (63,944)
At 31 March 2023 R-Z-=%=H
=+—H 394,379 577,204 139,612 (889,881) 221,314
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30. RESERVES (CONT'D)

(0

Nature and purpose of reserves

0}

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium

Share premium represents premium arising from
the issue of shares at a price in excess of their par
value per share and is not distributable but may
be applied in paying up unissued shares of the
Company to be issued to the shareholders of the
Company as fully paid bonus shares or in providing
for the premiums payable on repurchase of shares.

Contributed surplus

The Group's contributed surplus represents the
difference between the nominal value of the
shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to
the group reorganisation, over the nominal value
of the Company’s shares issued in exchange

therefore.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 3(n) to the
consolidated financial statements.

Capital redemption reserve

Capital redemption reserve represents the
cancelled shares upon repurchase of shares
and accordingly the issued share capital of the
Company was reduced by the nominal value of
these shares. The premium on repurchase was
charged against accumulated profits. An amount
equivalent to the nominal value of the shares
cancelled was transferred from accumulated
profits to the capital redemption reserve.

30. fa#fE ()

(c)

EEEEREN

0}

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

BRAD R B

P& 1) )4 (B 15 A = N = AR AR 15
HENEBETROMESL
#) 3 (B - 3 3F AT 2 I B A]
RBR AN 1 B S 17 EL AR 3%
TTEREITERMD  ERBR
AT B 3 1 4 100 8 B £ B B A
i 8 o

PR

AEBNBARBIERES
EEAmER KB RRR
7 T B 82 7K 2% B 3t 1tk 22 48 P
TR EERRESRE -

E R
[EXFEBmEgINELZ
MBREBEMELEZAA
SMNEZR - B RE AW
AR FE3(n) P8 2 ERT R
BRIE o

BEXEERE
BEABOFEEERDEDBEER
EHCERG  AMARFE
BITRARIEZ SR EE
OB o [ B i B 1R R A A
WEL - HERSBURKR M ®E
Bz Z22RERAENE
BEEABOEHE -
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31. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 31. BEREIE
2023 2022
—E=F T F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFAT
Properties for sale under development: BRAFEME
Contracted but not provided for in the EETAVERNGRE 5 RS

consolidated financial statements 774 1,539

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 32. BHMAREREEBERS

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions/information disclosed elsewhere
in these consolidated financial statements, during the year, the
Group entered into the following related party transactions.

Details of the remuneration of key management personnel,
who are the directors of the Company, during the year are set
out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements. Key
management personnel are deemed to be the members of the
Board of Directors of the Company which has responsibility for
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group.
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33.

PSSt HLEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 33. REBRERERMTE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(@)  Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (a) METHELENAEES
The following table shows the changes in the Group’s TRETFAAEERMEETHE S
liabilities arising from financing activities during the year: WaEY
Amount due

toimmediate Amount due Trade payable

Amount due holding  torelated and accrued Bonds Lease

toadirecor ~ company  companies charges  Borrowings payable liabilities Total
Bhi-2 EAERER  EOEE ZREA5E
BEE  DEFE DRFE REHER & EHES  HESE Eh

HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKSOOD  HKS000  HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TAL TEL TEL TEL

At 1 Apil 2021 RZF-F

mA-H 177 2,244 66 21,642 22,502 11,500 1,205 65,336
Addition of lease liabiltes REREBR - - - - - - 724 724
Interest expenses fIER% - - - - 3142 705 3 3880
Interest payables 2 - - - 3497 (3,186) (355) - (44)
Change in working capital LiEESE - - - 1478 - - - 1478
Exchange difference EREE 7 - - 1214 1,207 - - 248
Cashinflow (outflow) from  BEEHESR

financing activities: (i) :

Advance from a director EEE 9 - - - - - - 9

Advance from immediate holding  EZ R FRE

company - 176 - - - - - 176
Repayment to related companies {8 BB 2 F)508 - - (66) - - - - (66)
New borrowings raised HESEE - - - - 18,43 - - 18,43
Repayment of borrowings BREE - - - - (1,727) - - (1727
Repayment of lease liabilites ~ EEAERE - - - - - - (1,29) (1,29)
Interest paid Bfiflg - - - - - (350) 33) (383)
At 31 March 2022 R-E-ZE=R

=f-A 193 2420 - 33831 40,181 11,500 631 88,756
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33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 33. MEBREREKRME (&)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONT’D)
(@)  Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (a) BRETHELENAEEE (FE)
(CONT'D)
Amount due

toimmediate Trade payable

Amount due holding  and accrued Bonds Lease
to a director company charges  Borrowings payable liabilities Total
EN-% EAERER ZREATE
ESXE  AARE  REHER #E  EfiE5  HEEE a3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin TiEn TiEn T TiEn TiEn Tin
At 1 April 2022 W-E-—4MWA-AH 193 2,420 33,831 40,181 11,500 631 88,756
Interest expenses feRs - - - 3,551 N 30 3,954
Interest payables JERTFIS - - 2,067 (2,59) 529 - -
Change in working capital LEELHE - - (6,758) - - - (6,758)
Exchange difference ERES (14) (156) (2,498) (1,386) - - (4,054)
Non-cash transactions (noteb) ~ #B &% 57 (Mfith) - 20,083 (346) (16,417) (3,320) - -
Cash outflow from financing BRIz N
activities:
Repayment to a director EEEFTE (93) - - - - - (93)
Repayment to immediate holding ~ EEEHERA AFE
company - (14,619) - - - - (14,619)
Repayment of bond payable BREMES - - - - (800) - (800)
Repayment of horrowings BREE - - - (1,617) - - (1,617)
Repayment of lease liabilities [BEHERE - - - - - (330) (330)
Interest paid B8 - - - - - (30) (30)
At 31 March 2023 WZEZ=F=R
=1+-8 86 7,728 26,29 21,716 8,282 301 64,409
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33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONT’D)

(b)

Non cash transactions

(i)

(ii)

During the year, borrowings and loan interest
payables of HK$15,462,000 and HK$1,301,000
were settled through the current account
maintained with its immediate holding company

respectively.

During the year, bonds payable and bond interest
payables of HK$3,000,000 and HK$320,000 were
settled through the current account maintained
with its immediate holding company respectively.

33.

SERTRERME (B)

(b)

FRERS

U

(ii)

FR-EBEREMERHE
15,462,000 7% 7T } 1,301,000
BN RBEBREBEEER
NEFENERESEN -

FA - BEBNEFREMNE
% # £3,000,000% T &
320,000 LA BB BN EE
BEERARFEENTRERP
Bt e
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BE—E-_=F=A=+—HIFE

34. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of
incorporation
or registration/

Nominal value of
issued ordinary

3. TENBARF
ART2EBHBARFENT :

Percentage of

share capital/ equity interests attributable

Company Name operations registered capital to the Company Principal activities
FE Bz SR BRTEBRAEDE AAEER
DRIEE G-+ $:00 HMBEAR BRAEZADL TEER
2023 2022
—E-=F -
KEEHBEERADA  The PRCH RMB20,000,000 100% 100% Properties investment
g AR 20,000,000 7T MERE
REMBHERKNEE The PRC* RMB50,000,000 100% 100% Operation and management
BRAT of a hydroelectric power
station
R AR 50,000,000 7€ REUEEE IR
REmMKEEABRNR The PRC* RMB45,500,000 100% 100% Operation and management
IKNBERRAT of a hydroelectric power
station
o B AR 45,500,000 70 KEWHELER
RERBEFEMERE The PRC* RMB20,050,000 100% 100% Properties development
BRAF ]+ AR 20,050,000 7T EE
RERBEMEER The PRC* RMB50,000,000 100% 100% Properties management
BRARA H AR # 50,000,000 75 MEER
KEPEEXEBRAR  The PRCH RMB 10,000,000 100% 100% Properties development
H AR 10,000,000 7T EE
REPEEMERE  The PRC* RMB20,000,000 100% 100% Properties development
BRAF i A # 20,000,000 70 ESE
& These subsidiaries are wholly foreign owned enterprises in the * ZEWBARATEIIEBERSE -
PRC.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affect the results for the year
or constitute a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital outstanding at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.
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35.

Eo=F=HA=+—HIFE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

35. AR ABHBARRE

2023 2022
—E—= S
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FHExT FHT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BB REE - =
Right-of-use assets EREEE 272 634
272 634
Current assets REEE
Deposits and prepayments Ee RERNRIA 129 415
Amounts due from subsidiaries JrE LS Bf BB B FR IR 273,099 333,090
Cash and cash equivalents RekBAEEZEEYD 2 10
273,230 333,515
Current liabilities FREEE
Accrued charges FERTE A 3,650 4,594
Amount due to a subsidiary LRl EINGIE e 1,296 296
Amount due to immediate holding JE B R A R FRIE
company 36,531 29,742
Bonds payable JERHES 8,282 11,500
Lease liabilities HEARE 301 363
50,060 46,495
Net current assets REEEFE 223,170 287,020
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBAERS 223,442 287,654
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Lease liabilities HERE - 268
NET ASSETS EEFE 223,442 287,386
Capital and reserves IR A R
Share capital [ 2,128 2,128
Reserves s 30(b) 221,314 285,258
TOTAL EQUITY AR 223,442 287,386

This statement of financial position was approved and authorised
for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2023 and signed on

its behalf by

Wang Jing
&
Director

BFE

I BRARRER - FE_=FA=1THE
EERHEL BT  AHATREREE

Wang Xing Qiao
IE28
Director

BF

CECCEER PHEEEEEFRAF
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
T F S E

Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=+—HLEFE

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
E—NF ZE-TF T —F T —E=HF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FET FBT
CONTINUING OPERATIONS IFEEE XK
Revenue Uz 168,783 71,177 29,542 38,939 23,764
Profit (Loss) before tax B & AT B (B598) 9,191 (22,077) (15,384) (17,551) (51,165)
Taxation AL (7,607) (2,617) (44) (56) (45)
Profit (Loss) for the year from  ARNEE K BFELE
continuing operations ¥ 2w (EiE) 1,584 (24,694) (15,428) (17,607) (51,210)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS T #& L &% #7%
Loss for the year from AEEREELIE
discontinued operations LEHETR 2 BB (13,308) (4,533) - - -
Loss for the year NEEEE (11,724) (29,227) (15,428) (17,607) (51,210)
(Loss) Profit attributable to: THALFEN
(E518) &7
Owners of the Company RRAREB A (13,949) (25,114) (15,428) (17,607) (51,210)
Non-controlling interests FEERRAE A 2,225 (4,113) - - -
(11,724) (29,227) (15,428) (17,607) (51,210)
At 31 March
R=B=+—H
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—hFE ZE-TF T —F T -F E_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FET FBT
Assets and Liabilities EERERE
Total assets W E 585,669 368,385 392,725 412,482 307,229
Total liabilities waE 201,029 69,378 79,679 101,887 75,462
384,640 299,007 313,046 301,595 231,767
Attributable to owners of the ~ ZNA A ¥EA A (L
Company 350,768 299,007 313,046 301,595 231,767
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR A 33,872 = = = =
384,640 299,007 313,046 301,595 231,767
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